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VISION, MISSION, CORE VALUES

MANDATE

The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds (RIRF) was established in November 
2006 through the Insurance Act of 2005 and Retirement Funds Act of 2005. 
Subject to the provisions of these Acts the functions of the Registrar are:

(a) To supervise and exercise control over the activities of insurers and retirement funds in terms 
of these Acts and any other law of the Kingdom of Swaziland; and

(b) To advise the Minister on matters relating to insurance services and retirement funds either of 
his own accord or at the request of the Minister. 

VISION
The RIRF vision is:
To be the leading financial services regulatory authority in the SADC region, adhering to  
international best practice whilst contributing towards stakeholder confidence and economic 
growth in Swaziland.

MISSION
The RIRF mission is:
To regulate and supervise the insurance and retirement funds industries:
 – Ensuring the development, stability and sustainability of the industries, encouraging  

 creativity and innovation whilst fostering adequate protection for consumers; 
 – Establishing a supervisory system that is risk-responsive;
 – Managing and minimising systemic risk and contributing towards combating financial 

 crime;
 – Promoting compliance with international best practice standards and principles; and 

– Establishing efficient and effective operational systems that will be of service to both  
 internal and external stakeholders. 

CORE VALUES
The core values that guide us as we execute our mandate of supervision and regulation are:

 •	 Integrity • Confidentiality
 • Accountability •	 Teamwork
 •	 Transparency • Consistency
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR 

Mr. Sandile S. Dlamini
Registrar of Insurance and Retirements Funds
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INTRODUCTION

I am pleased to present my fourth annual report since being appointed the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement 
Funds. This report covers the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. 

RIRF OPERATIONS

RIRF Financial Resources

Industry Levies
RIRF is funded mainly by levies collected from regulated entities and partly by government grants in accordance with 
the provisions of the Insurance Act of 2005.

RIRF prepares its budget annually based on its operational requirements, and submits such budget to the Minister of 
Finance for approval. Any anticipated shortfall that arises as a result of the operations of the office is then funded by 
Government.

Actual levies raised for the year were E14.4 million (2010: E12.4 million). The breakdown of levies charged to industry 
is as follows:

Government Subvention
Government subvention for the period under review amounted to E4 million (2010: E5.5 million). It is expected that 
once RIRF has accumulated enough reserves from industry levies, financial support from Government will diminish, 
and will eventually be eliminated, hence achieving financial independence as required by the IAIS (International 
Association of Insurance Supervisors).

Investment Income
Income from investments comprises interest earned on money market accounts as well as bank accounts. A total of 
E1,200,832 (2010: E964,481) Investment income was earned during the year. 

Regulated Entity Calculation basis per legislation Levy Amount
Retirement Funds 0.07% of Total Balance Sheet Assets 9,454,115
Long Term Insurers 0.07% of Total Balance Sheet Assets 599,168
Short Term Insurers 1.25% of Net Premiums 2,706,529
Insurance Brokers 1.25% of Commission 741,484
Insurance Agents 1.25% of Commission 90,148
Fund Administrators 1.25% of Fee Income 607,572
Investment Managers 1.25% of Fee Income          166,279
TOTAL  14,365,295
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

Registration Fees
A total income of E428,932 (2010: E665,712) was earned during the year from registration and renewal of regulated 
entities.                                                              

RIRF Strategic plan: 2011 - 2014

During the last quarter of the year under review, RIRF crafted a Strategic Plan for the period 2011 to 2014. The strategy 
is based on the RIRF vision for the future that currently inspires the organisation and drives the strategic focus:

‘To be the leading financial services regulatory authority in the SADC (Southern African Development 
Community) region adhering to international best practice whilst contributing towards stakeholder 
confidence and economic growth in Swaziland’.

The following were the key Strategic Focus Areas (SFAs) that were agreed and guide RIRF employees:

SFA-1 – Customer Service, with the strategic objective to build stakeholder relationships, provide benchmarked 
service levels and creating a compelling image. 
 
SFA-2 - Implementation of a Progressive Supervisory Approach towards achieving Risk Based Supervision.

SFA-3 – Enhancing supervisory, institutional and legal framework towards achieving harmonised legislation 
relevant to FSRA (Financial Services Regulatory Authority), SADC and other local legislation impacting our work.

SFA-4 – Information and Communication Technology (ICT), with strategic objective of identifying and installing 
ICT that is cost effective, reliable, meet user requirements, is scalable, and ensures data integrity.

SFA-5 – People Development, with the strategic objective to attract, select, develop and retain competent people.

SFA-6 – Financial Sustainability and improved corporate services, with the strategic objective of ensuring 
that adequate and timely budgeting is in place, there is appropriate allocation of resources in place, there is effective 
monitoring of revenues and expenses, and there is good governance within RIRF.
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Human Resources 

Staff Complement

As at 31 March 2011 RIRF had 26 (31 March 2010: 17) staff members and this represents a 53% increase in head count. 
As a supervisory and regulatory authority in the insurance and retirement funds industries, RIRF requires employees 
with the highest level of technical expertise to ensure that its mandate is carried out effectively and efficiently. In 
recognition of this fact, RIRF continued to provide financial assistance and study loans to employees who are pursuing 
various studies. RIRF also strives to maintain an environment that promotes fair treatment and equal opportunities 
for all its employees. Salary and performance reviews are performed periodically to ensure that employees are being 
remunerated within the benchmarks of the market and according to their performance.

Recruitment and Selection
The following 9 vacancies were filled during the year under review:

Department Position Total Filled
Finance and Corporate Services Finance Officer 1 
Finance and Corporate Services Receptionist 1
Licensing and Inspections Analysts 4 
Legal, Policy and Intervention Legal Officers 3 
TOTAL 9
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

To ensure RIRF recruited the best suited candidates, meanwhile achieving transparency in the process, RIRF continued 
to engage the services of KPMG Management Services for the recruitment processes.
 
Disciplinary Hearings
There was only one staff disciplinary action during the year. This however has not been concluded and will continue 
into the next financial year.

Staff Resignations
There were no staff resignations during the financial year under review.

Training, Bursaries, Conferences and Other Development Programmes
RIRF employees had the opportunity to attend different the training courses and seminars during the year. This is line 
with the RIRF staff development policy and procedure. 

To promote information sharing, every staff member that attends a training program, seminar or conference is expected 
to do a presentation or a report to the rest of the staff members since it is not possible for all staff members to attend at 
the same time. Details of the attended programmes are found on annexure:

Educational Assistance and Study Loans
 As part of employee development programmes, RIRF continued to extend financial support to staff members who 
are pursuing their different academic programs in the form of study loans in line with the RIRF Staff Training and 
Development Policy and Procedure. 

Technical Assistance
During the year under review, RIRF continued to receive technical assistance from the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF). The IMF consultant provides on-going on the job training relating to supervisory processes, legislation 
development and review, as well as development and implementation of operational policies and procedures. The IMF 
consultant continues to visit RIRF twice a year and monitors progress on an ongoing basis.
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RIRF Participation in International Forums

RIRF is a member of international regulatory bodies, namely, the International Association of Insurance Supervisors 
(IAIS) and International Organisation of Pensions Supervisors (IOPS). Through participation RIRF keeps abreast of 
international regulatory developments and gets the opportunity to share ideas and benchmark its approach against 
best practice standards codified by these bodies. 
The following sections highlight, from an international perspective, the key issues arising from the insurance and 
retirement funds sectors. 

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF INSURANCE SUPERVISORS (IAIS) – Key Issues 
The IAIS held their annual conference in Dubai in October 2010. For the first time, RIRF participated in this 
conference and sent two staff members. The key highlights of the deliberations were as follows: 

a. Insurance Core Principles (ICPs), Standards, Guidance and Assessment Methodology

 The IAIS has been working on revising the Insurance Core Principles and corresponding standards and 
guidance material. The goal is to have a complete set of revised and restructured ICPs and corresponding 
standards and material ready for adoption at the October 2011 General Meeting. 

 During the Annual Conference, the ICP Coordination Group explained to Members and Observers the 
process for review and consultation to ensure there is clear understanding of how the material will be developed 
and consolidated into a cohesive set of revised ICPs and corresponding standards and guidance material. 
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

 Background

 In March 2009, the ICP Coordinating Group was formed to take forward the work of the former ICP Review 
Task Force and manage the process to meet the 2011 deadline for having revised set of ICPs. Once revision 
is completed, it will be clear that the ICPs are the highest level in the hierarchy of IAIS Supervisory material 
and form the overall umbrella for all other supervisory material. The ICPs will be the only ‘principles’ and 
will prescribe the essential elements that must be present in a supervisory regime in order to promote a sound 
insurance sector. Standards will be directly under the ICPs in the hierarchy of supervisory material and will 
be linked to specific ICPs. Standards will set out key high level requirements that are fundamental to the 
implementation of the ICPs and should be met to demonstrate observance with the core principles.

 Allocation of ICPs to working parties

 The ICPs and corresponding standards and guidance have been allocated to working parties for review 
in line with their areas of expertise. The substance of the work is taking place in working party meetings 
and participation of members and observers in these meetings is in accordance with the 2005 IAIS Policy 
Statement on Observers’ Participation in IAIS activities. 

 During the meeting, an open session was held to provide Members and Observers with the opportunity to 
participate in discussions regarding the resolutions on comments received from the consultation period.

b. The work of IAIS sub-committees and working parties

 Through participation at the annual conference, it was very interesting to get an understanding of the role that 
subcommittees and working parties play in the overall work of the IAIS and how jurisdictions like Swaziland 
can participate. The following are the subcommittees and their roles:

 i. Accounting and Auditing Issues Subcommittee  -  this subcommittee provides a forum for discussion  
and information-sharing regarding accounting and auditing issues of relevance to supervisors, including 
the implementation and application by insurers of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
application by auditors of insurance companies of International Standards on Auditing, disclosure 
requirements and other areas of interest. In carrying out its work the subcommittee liaises, as appropriate, with: 

 • other IAIS working parties (notably other work streams dealing with issues related to solvency,  
 accounting, reporting to supervisors, governance and market conduct), and

 • other organisations on issues of mutual interest, including co-members of the IFAC Monitoring Group  
 and other organisations involved in financial stability issues.

 ii. Education subcommittee - this Subcommittee is in charge of educational activities such as seminars,  
 translations and educational material. To facilitate understanding of ICPs and to enhance supervisors’  
 knowledge and understanding of IAIS supervisory principles, standards and guidance, the Education  
 Subcommittee:

  -  Proposes an education strategy and act on it once officially approved
  -  Organises and coordinate regional seminars along with global seminars
  -  Approves applications of financial support for educational initiatives
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  -  Coordinates the translation of IAIS papers
  -  Coordinates the development of training materials (including cooperation with all available 

   providers) 
  -  Carries out any other matters asked by the Implementation Committee and the Executive   

  Committee.

 The Education Subcommittee also supports the capacity building of insurance supervisors, in particular, in 
emerging markets, to implement IAIS Insurance Core Principles, standards and guidance; and also addresses 
their application in specific circumstances, for example, microinsurance, takaful and other forms of insurance. 
To address this, the Education Subcommittee:

 -  Coordinates with Access to Insurance Initiative and multilateral organisations for rendering technical  
 assistance and other forms of collaboration at national, regional and international levels.

iii. Governance and Compliance Subcommittee  -   this subcommittee provides a framework in developing high 
level corporate governance principles and guidance applicable to the insurance industry and in insurance 
supervision. It follows developments in and liaise with other (international) bodies in particular the OECD 
(Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, and the World Bank as well as the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision, IOSCO (International Organisation of Securities Commissions), 
IOPS (International Organisation of Pensions Supervisors), the European Union and the Islamic Financial 
Services Board on developments with respect to corporate governance, for example in standard setting and 
drafting of assessment material. Furthermore, it also provides oversight and support to the working group on 
Microinsurance and coordinate with the CGAP Working Group on Microinsurance.

iv. Information Gathering & Analysis Task Force -  this subcommittee is responsible for developing, in close  
coordination with the Technical Committee, a guidelines paper on information gathering and analysis that  
offers IAIS members (particularly for emerging markets) a basic map on issues such as:

 • Minimum statistical, technical and financial information required to undertake the supervisory process.
 • Basic recommendations for collecting information, in order to ensure consistency, comparability,  

 accuracy, transparency and reasonableness.
 • Basic ratios that could support financial and technical supervision.
 • Utilisation of basic analysis information techniques as part of the supervisory process.

v. Insurance Core Principles (ICP) Coordination Group - the ICP Coordination Group consists of working 
party chairs and representatives from the IMF and World Bank.

 The ICP Coordination Group is responsible for coordinating the ICP review to ensure comprehensiveness 
and consistency of approach, to resolve any issues of overlap between working parties, to identify any gaps 
between current supervisory papers, which would need to be filled to promote a high level of implementation 
of the ICPs and ultimately to provide a revised set of ICPs in time for adoption at the Annual General Meeting 
in October 2011.

vi. Insurance Fraud Working Group – this group analyses fraudulent activities by or on insurance companies and 
drafts papers contributing to the prevention and detection of insurance fraud. It prepares guidance on Anti-
Money Laundering and combatting the financing of terrorism, and works with other international bodies 
addressing these issues.
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

vii. Market Conduct Subcommittee - for the purpose of defining the scope of this Subcommittee, market 
conduct means dealing with existing and potential policyholders and beneficiaries in the selling and handling 
of insurance products and services and the provision of information to such parties. 

 The Market Conduct Subcommittee:
 • Analyses market conduct of insurers and intermediaries towards existing and potential policyholders  

 and beneficiaries and proposes the development of supervisory papers and supporting papers, as  
 appropriate, in the area of insurers’ and intermediaries’ behaviour in the marketplace, including: 

  o Disclosure and transparency of relevant information to policyholders,
  o Consumer protection, such as dealing with customers in the selling and handling of insurance policies  

  and claims, handling of consumer complaints, or other areas such as insurance supervisors’ role in  
  consumer empowerment and enhancing consumer capability, and

  o Coordination between national supervisory or other bodies dealing with aspects of supervision of  
  market conduct of insurers and intermediaries.

 • Provides oversight and support to the Insurance Fraud Working Group.
 • Coordinates with other IAIS working parties as appropriate – in particular with the Task Force for   

 Review of Insurance Core Principles and the Accounting Subcommittee.
 • Coordinates with other international bodies dealing with market conduct of insurers and intermediaries.

viii. Pension Coordination Group - The main aim of this Group is to prepare the most integrated possible approach 
towards pension and insurance supervision from the point of view of substance and organisation. 

 The tasks of the Group are: 
 • to propose a model of IAIS-IOPS cooperation framework in order to facilitate the contacts between  

 both organisations to propose a model for IAIS strategy with regard to pension supervision
 • to check the consistency of OECD/IOPS principles, standards and good practices on pension regulation  

 and supervision with IAIS principles, standards and guidance papers, and provide comments to the  
 OECD/IOPS as relevant

 • to monitor the scale of different IAIS members’ involvement in pension supervision.

 ix. Reinsurance & Other Forms of Risk Transfer Subcommittee - The Reinsurance and Other Forms of  
 Risk Transfer Subcommittee (RSC) develops guidance, standards and principles on reinsurance and  
 other forms of risk transfer - both from the perspective of evaluating the reinsurance cover of primary  
 insurers and of supervising reinsurers. In addition it identifies and considers relevant developments  
 within the market, the institutions and the supervisory/regulatory environment for reinsurance and  
 other forms and risk transfer. 

 x. Solvency and Actuarial Issues Subcommittee - the Solvency Subcommittee researches and analyses  
 issues related to solvency requirements, solvency assessment and risk management of insurance  
 companies and it develops supervisory papers on these topics.

 xi. Standards Observance Subcommittee - this Subcommittee’s mandate is to contribute to enhanced  
 observance of IAIS Insurance Core Principles and Standards through: 

  o Developing assessment mechanisms and defining the topics for potential thematic peer reviews;
  o  Overseeing the conduct of those reviews;
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  o  Reporting the outcome of the reviews in aggregate to the Implementation Committee and  
  individually to participating members;

  o  Helping participating members identify potential areas of improvement, and 
  o  Supporting other IAIS subcommittees on their workplan as appropriate.

INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATION OF PENSIONS SUPERVISORS (IOPS) – Key issues
In March 2011, the IOPS has issued Working Paper number 14 on Effective Pension Supervision, entitled, Efficient 
Information Collection. Ironically, this is one of RIRF’s key Strategic Focus Areas as we search for the best ICT to 
assist in efficient information collection, while working toward implementing Risk Based Supervision. 

This working paper was prepared, on behalf of IOPS by Mr John Ashcroft, an independent consultant who was formerly 
with the Pensions Regulator in the UK and served as President to the IOPS. As Mr Ashcroft puts it, collecting information 
as efficient as possible is a key part of a well-functioning supervisory regime. This issue is becoming even more important 
as supervisors adopt a risk-based supervision approach, necessitating new types of information and analysis.

The purpose of this paper is to provide guidance on the factors pensions supervisors should consider when deciding 
what information they need to obtain, and how such information can be collected and handled efficiently. Particular 
focus is given to information required for risk-based approach to supervision. 

As RIRF prepares for the implementation of an Information and Communication Technology, we thought it might 
be useful to share with the readers of this annual report the guidance that we will be following in ensuring efficient 
information collection.

a. What information do supervisors need?

 When moving to a more risk-based supervision approach, it is important to review what information 
is required so as to source new information most efficiently. Information will have to be obtained for the 
following risk-based purposes, both at entity level and the more industry/strategic level for the following  
purposes:

 • Licensing or registration/renewal – information that RIRF needs for this purpose is already specified  
 in the legislation currently in force. While this information should provide a good foundation of  
 information for the other purposes outlined below, it should be noted that this information is largely  
 qualitative and may become out-dated.

 • Offsite analysis – the main reason for off-site analysis is to check compliance with rules and legislation,  
 and to contribute to risk assessment. Alternatively, off-site analysis may highlight issues that do not  
 represent a breach of legislation but need further consideration during the inspection process. Off-site  
 analysis allows RIRF to determine the frequency and priority of routine on-site supervision or determine  
 whether an un-programmed or emergency inspection is called for. As you will notice under the  
 intervention section that as a result of off-site analysis already taking place on our regulated entities,  
 RIRF has carried out emergency inspections as a result of early warning signs of potential problems.  
 Examples of types of information required for off-site assessments (as outlined under Guidance 2 –  
 Reporting Requirements of the IOPS Guidelines for Supervisory Assessment (IOPS 2008) can include:
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

  o Basic Fund Information: type of fund; status of fund; number of active, deferred members  
  and beneficiaries; movements in numbers over the period; benefit eligibility and plan access; merger  
  and liquidation process; disclosure procedures; redress mechanisms.

  o Financial Information: value of the fund; value of liabilities; amount of contributions received;  
  transfer values; amount of investment income; amount of benefits paid; amount of other expenses.

  o Governance Information: structure and mandate of the management board; appointment procedure  
  and qualifications of members; decision making procedures; risk management procedures (such as  
  internal compliance programmes); details of service providers and outsourced functions (actuaries,  
  auditor, custodian, investment manager, administrator, etc), including how appointed, monitored  
  and dismissed; plan sponsor details.

  o Conduct of Business Information: transparency and disclosure policies, including what information  
  is transmitted to members and beneficiaries of the fund and in what form.

  o Investment Information: investment strategy; asset allocation; transaction details; investment  
  performance; costs and fees charged; portfolio ‘stress test’.

 • On-site supervision – the major objective of on-site supervision is to validate information and policy  
 documents already provided to RIRF and enable some form of credibility evaluation. On-site supervision  
 typically include a walk-through with the members of the regulated entity’s management board/senior  
 management of strategic issues, business plans, and the subjective assessment of key players and dominant  
 relationships, as they relate to the issues being examined. This assists in gaining intimate knowledge of  
 the capabilities and limitations of those in control of the entity. On-site supervisory activities are  
 resource intensive and require careful planning and preparation, with meetings scheduled in advance  
 with key personnel of the entity, as well as key outside professionals, such as actuaries and auditors. 

 • Systemic risk analysis – the term systemic risk refers to both factors which have an impact on the sector  
 as a whole (e.g. increased volatility in worldwide capital markets as was experienced in 2008/2009) and  
 also risk factors which may be prevalent in most regulated entities (e.g. weak governance). As RIRF  
 move towards a risk-based supervision approach, we will need also to obtain information about the key  
 risks to the retirement funds system and insurance industry that will influence our resource allocation  
 and planning. Risks can be identified at two levels, on a ‘micro’ and a ‘macro’ basis – a ‘bottom up’  
 approach and attempting to identify risks at the level of individual supervised entities, or a ‘top down’  
 approach looking a risk on a sector or thematic basis. 

  RIRF needs trends data to show how the sector and risk profile is changing over time. Therefore we will  
 need to be consistent in specifying the data to be obtained in order to make valid comparisons and  
 identify trends over time. Once a systemic risk is established, relevant information will be obtained as a  
 matter of routine. New risks will necessitate ad hoc request for information. 

 • Performance measurement – measuring performance of RIRF necessitates obtaining information on  
 how supervised entities have responded to interventions and the extent to which risks have reduced as a  
 consequence. The following types of information will be appropriate for this purpose:
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  o Trends in, ratios between, participation, contribution levels and pension plan or fund assets;
  o Asset allocation, possibly including the relationship with legislative limits and market norms;
  o For Defined Benefit (DB) funds, liability and funding levels relative to number of beneficiaries, assets  

  held and the state of financial markets, possibly along with information on risk of sponsor insolvency;  
  stress-testing, recovery plan duration or plan funding targets;

  o For Defined Contribution (DC) funds, information on investment performance, charges to members  
  and balances at retirement.

  o Governance issues such as turnover of board members, extent or quality of risk management,  
  implementation of good administrative practice, oversight of outsourced functions or the  
  management of conflicts of interest;

  o The number and type of supervisory interventions and actions in response to interventions;
  o Complaints data;
  o Industry or member perceptions of the quality of entity management or supervision (via surveys);
  o Changes in the supervisor’s assessment of entity risks;
  o Surveys of industry participants and/or members;
  o Performance targets (customer service measures); and
  o Cost ratios (such as cost per entity covered/inspection undertaken).

 Some performance information is likely to be provided by the system-wide data collected, but other types 
of measure may require information obtained specially for the purpose. It is important to specify additional 
information needed for performance measurement at the time that the relevant measure is being designed, to 
check that the proposed measure is feasible and to put in place arrangements to obtain it.

b. Choosing Information Sources

 RIRF needs to consider how to source the information we need. To obtain it in the most efficient and effective 
manner, we need to consider a range of sources and the benefits of each source taking into consideration powers 
and scope, quality and timeliness, data quality, the use of information technology and implementation issues.

 The following is a range of sources of information:
 o Quarterly and Annual returns from entities to RIRF;
 o Reports commissioned from third parties such as surveys and reports commissioned into specific  

 issues at supervised entities;
 o Information from on-site supervisory activities, such as checklists completed in advance of or during  

 evaluation; results of evaluations; reports to the entity;
 o Mandatory exception reports such reports on fund deficits and recovery plans
 o Transaction reports such as schedules showing the allocation of contributions, purchase or sale of assets  

 and benefit payments or prohibited transactions between parties of interest pension fund, fund sponsor  
 and third party contractors.

 o Existing datasets and documents produced for non-supervisory purposes such as audited financial  
 statements; governance documents; sponsor credit ratings; industry-wide surveys

 Information technology
 There are strong reasons for requiring entities to submit returns electronically, by transferrable media or 

through the internet. In particular, it is quicker and probably easier for the regulated entity (so long as the 
return is well designed). It also cuts out errors likely to arise if information has subsequently to be keyed into 
RIRF’s software and enables some automatic validation of data without RIRF’s input, for instance, if the 
entity tries to enter non-numeric data into a numeric field.
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

 The most important reason, however, is the volume of data involved. Good practice among IOPS members 
indicates that some specific technical issues need to be addressed where IT is used to collect and store data for 
supervisory returns, as set out below:

	 • Data transfer methods have to be compatible between supervised entities and the supervisor and capable  
 of supporting the necessary data flows;

 • Security and confidentiality of data transfer is important where the internet (or other insecure medium)  
 and some form of encryption, dedicated secure link or electronic signature should be considered;

 • It is common to use a relational database management system to hold the data, however, irrespective of  
 the way data is held, there need to be robust separately located back-up and disaster recovery systems;

 • Given the volume likely to be held, and its potential use for many different purposes, the retrieval of  
 data in usable form is vital. Most supervisors use a query facility, which some make available on-line and  
 best practice includes the provision of dynamic query facilities, i.e. it can be designed at the time a query  
 is being made rather than being embedded; and

 • Where large quantities of data is involved, there can be value in requiring supervised entities to use  
 compatible IT for data that needs to be submitted to the supervisor, although care should be taken not  
 to over burden entities (especially the smaller ones) with technological requirements that could increase  
 costs borne by fund members and policyholders.

c. Information Strategy and Organisation

 Given the number of reasons why RIRF may wish to obtain information, the number of potential sources and, 
indeed the number of risks that we may wish to monitor or mitigate, it is therefore very important that we 
devise an information strategy. As well as purpose, sources and scope, an information strategy will encompass:

 • The need to balance cost to the supervised entities and cost to RIRF – additional value can be derived  
 from information by combining data from different sources, so as to generate correlations and identify  
 trends. 

 • The need for prospective as well as retrospective information – information such as stress-testing and  
 assessments of the quality of governance may give a better picture of what will happen in future than  
 historic data from annual accounts or returns, especially for risk-based supervision where monitoring,  
 inspections and interventions are being designed so as to pre-empt risks materialising in the future.

 • How information is managed and held – information should be held in a way that enables it to be readily  
 used for supervisory purposes, bearing in mind that some types of information have multiple uses. Failing  
 to capture the data so that it is readily available within RIRF in future gives rise to the risk that important  
 pieces of information, and hence risk, may be over-looked, or at least that RIRF may have to subsequently  
 seek information it already holds. The sourcing and management of information can be improved if each  
 source and purpose has an owner within the authority. RIRF will consider assigning overall responsibility  
 for information to a specific individual or team. Their responsibilities could include some, at least, of:

  o Developing and overseeing the information strategy;
  o Sharing information on specific risks involving supervised entities or their managers with other  

  agencies, both in the same country and other authorities in other countries subject to confidentiality  
  restrictions;

  o Obtaining information from some other sources;
  o Maintaining information quality by ensuring records are up to date, conducting validation checks  

  and cross-checking between different sources for consistency; 
  o Ensuring that confidential information is kept confidential, and that there is an up-to-date published  

  policy on confidentiality;
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  o Analysing available data to identify new systemic risks to individual entities;
  o Flagging up situations that may suggest an intensified risk to an entity;
  o Supporting inspections teams by providing them with the information they need;
  o Providing basic data for strategy, planning and research; and 
  o Coordinating with industry to check that the process of information collection does not constitute a  

  prohibitive high burden or could be mitigated in some way.

 AFRICA AND THE SADC
 As Swaziland is a member of the Southern African Development Community (SADC), RIRF is a member 

of its Committee of Insurance, Securities and Non-banking Financial Authorities (CISNA). CISNA’s main 
objective is to establish sound regulatory frameworks and to promote and maintain confidence in the financial 
systems in the SADC region. It also promotes the creation of a comprehensive and harmonised regulatory 
framework in capital markets, investment services, insurance and retirement funds. The aim is to prepare the 
region’s regulatory framework for free flow of capital within the SADC and, in particular, to address potential 
regulatory arbitrage.

 Active participation in the committee’s activities helps RIRF to create networks, and to share information 
with member countries, especially relating to regulated entities existing in other countries.

 During the year under review, RIRF participated at the CISNA meeting which was held in Maseru, Lesotho  
from 29 November to 3 December 2010. The main issues that were discussed at the meetings were the  
following:

	 •	 Finalisation	of	CISNA	Strategic	planning	2011	–	2015;
	 •	 Training	opportunities	for	CISNA	members;
	 •	 Presentation	on	the	Vizor	Software	for	Supervisors;
	 •	 Signing	of	Memoranda	of	Understanding;	and
	 •	 Harmonization	 of	 the	 regulatory	 frameworks	 for	 insurance,	 retirement	 funds,	 securities	 and	 capital	 

 markets.
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INDUSTRY PERSPECTIVE

Licensing

The Insurance Act and the Retirement Funds Act require all entities dealing in insurance and retirement funds 
businesses to be licensed. A license formally authorises entities to carry on business in Swaziland and helps to ensure 
that only entities that are financially strong, owned and operated by suitable persons, and operated in an appropriate 
manner are given access to the market. Licensing is meant to protect consumers from insurers, retirement funds and 
intermediaries that are either likely to be unable to meet their obligations or not prepared to follow appropriate market 
conduct practices. 
 
Registered entities as at 31 March 2011 stood as follows. A detailed list of regulated entities is found on annexure 2.
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Entity Licensed/regis-
tered entities at 
31 March 2011

Licensed/registered 
entities at 
31 March 2010

Licensed/
registered entities 
At 31 March 2009

Insurers – both Long Term and Short Term 10 9 6
Brokers 32 29 22
Corporate Agents 17 15 6
Individual Agents 91 91 53
Local Retirement Funds 60 53 33
Foreign Retirement Funds 29 19 11
Funds administered under umbrella funds 114 119 119
Investment Managers 9 9 5

Fund Administrators 5 5 4

Totals 367 349 259



At close of the Financial Year under review, registered entities (inclusive of retirement funds administered under 
umbrella funds) stood at 367 (2010: 349), an increase of 5% when compared to prior year. 

A total of four licenses were cancelled during the year, and constituted one broker, one corporate agent and two individual 
agents. The reasons for cancellation were mainly lack of fitness and propriety of persons as well as failure to comply 
with legal requirements for operating in the insurance industry such as the filing of quarterly returns, procurement of 
sufficient professional indemnity cover and fidelity guarantee in line with the requirements of Insurance Directives, 
2008 sections 4, 8 and 9.

Insurers
In the period under review, one additional insurer was registered bringing the total of authorised insurers to ten. 
Insurers must demonstrate long term financial viability, prudent risk management and technical provisioning, 
underwriting policies, must have access to sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities and must comply with the 
minimum capital requirements stated in the Insurance Act, 2005. 
As part of on-going monitoring of the viability of insurance companies, RIRF performs off-site analysis on the quarterly 
returns submitted by these entities. Of the ten registered insurers, only two have been found to be experiencing financial 
and operational challenges. Supervisory intervention procedures and corrective measures have been prescribed for 
these insurers and are being implemented and closely monitored by RIRF.

Brokers and Agents
A total of three additional brokers were registered in the period under review, bringing the total number of brokers 
registered locally to 32. Fully registered corporate agents and individual agents stand at 17 and 91 respectively. 

Investment Managers
No additional investment managers were registered during the period under review, hence the total number of 
investment management companies remains at nine.

Retirement Funds
A total of 60 local retirement funds, seven of which are umbrella funds comprising of 114 participating employers and 
29 foreign funds were registered by the end of the financial year under review.

Retirement Fund Administrators
There were no new retirement fund administrators registered during the period under review, hence the total number 
of administrators remains at five.

Onsite Inspections

In the period under review RIRF conducted a total of three onsite inspections covering two insurers and one broker.
 
Insurers’ inspections
The onsite inspections of these insurers were aimed at verifying compliance with all legal requirements for operating 
in Swaziland and in particular compliance with capital requirements, governance issues and the payment of claims.
Issues of concern arising from the onsite inspections have been communicated to the concerned insurers and prescribed 
corrective supervisory actions are being monitored on an on-going basis.
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

Broker’s inspection
The onsite inspection of the broker revealed that adequacy of operational and control systems as well as the level 
of compliance with the requirements of the Insurance Act is lacking. These areas of non-compliance have been 
communicated to the broker and corrective action has been prescribed. 

 
Guidelines and Procedures

During the year under review, RIRF hosted a 3 days’ workshop for brokers and retirement funds to introduce the 
recently gazetted new return forms that both regulated industries are expected to utilise in the submission of quarterly 
and annual returns. An instruction manual to assist regulated entities to file returns have also been developed for 
both returns forms. Participants at the workshop were taken through the new reporting format and were availed an 
opportunity to seek clarification where necessary.

Supervisory Challenges

During the period under review RIRF was faced with the following challenges:

1. Six applications to terminate retirement funds were received. This was due to the slow-down in economic 
activity that has resulted in a number of employers experiencing an increase in operating losses to the extent 
that they can no longer afford to make pension contributions for their employees. Some of these institutions 
have had to close down or scale down on the number of employees. A majority of the affected institutions 
are non-governmental organisations that are solely dependent on donor funding for support. Others are large 
institutions and small scale private enterprises. Persuading the employees to preserve their pension benefits is 
becoming increasingly difficult especially where the opportunity to get alternative employment is next to nil.

2. An increase in application to register beneficiary funds has also been evident. The challenge to RIRF has been 
with regard to the qualification of applicants to be granted a license as well as the drafting of requirements 
for registration for this form of business. Requirements for registration have been finalised and received 
applications are being assessed.  

3. Implementation of reporting requirements: the main purpose of the regular assessment of the regulated 
entities is to determine the risk profile of the entity and to plan suitable supervisory responses. Regular 
gathering and analysis of information assists RIRF to identify risks that the entities are exposed to in a timely 
manner, monitor regulatory compliance and to detect any problem that may affect the entity’s ability to 
meet its short and long term obligations or determine whether further information should be sought. The 
continued delay in the submission of statutory returns by regulated entities therefore defeats the purpose for 
monitoring and serves to delay the compilation of industry statistics and the recommendation of corrective 
action that prevent the collapse of the affected entity.
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LEGAL, POLICY AND INTERVENTION

Anti-money Laundering and Combating the Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT)

Approval of Compliance Officers
Insurers and intermediaries are required by the Money Laudering Prevention Act 2001 and the AML/CFT Guideline 
to appoint compliance officers whose role is to monitor compliance with legal and supervisory requirements in 
relation to combating money laundering, the financing of terrorism and other financial crime. Such compliance officers 
must meet requirements prescribed in the guideline and must be approved by the Registrar. Compliance officers 
are also tasked with developing AML/CFT compliance programs for their institutions, develop and implement a 
self-assessment of controls and act as a liaison officer between the insurer or intermediary, RIRF and the Financial 
Intelligence Unit (FIU).

As at 31 March 2011, twelve entities had applied for approval of their compliance officers. RIRF vets these officers for 
fitness and propriety. Some of the officers have been approved, others have failed the fit and proper test while others 
still have their applications under consideration.

Relationships with other Regulators
RIRF is committed to establishing relations with other regulatory authorities in the SADC region. In May 2010 
RIRF entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the Namibian Financial Institutions Supervisory 
Authority (NAMFISA). The main purpose of the MOU is to provide a framework for mutual cooperation and 
information sharing and to provide full mutual legal assistance in reprimanding persons engaging in money laundering, 
terrorist financing, fraudulent practices or other financial crime in the non-bank financial services industry.

Intervention
During the year under review, RIRF took the following intervention decisions:

•	 Insurer placed under judicial management - An insurer has been placed under judicial management by the 
court, in accordance with requirements of the Insurance Act. The main factor giving rise to the application 



to place the insurer under judicial management is that the entity is in a precarious operational and financial 
position which is threatening the insurance policies of a number of people who have secured insurance cover 
through the insurer. On the recommendation of the office and in accordance with the provisions of section 65 
of the Insurance Act of 2005, the court appointed a judicial manager for the insurer. The duties of the judicial 
manager are to:

 o  take control and possession of all assets of the insurer, including bank accounts and any other accounts  
 that may be in the name of the insurer; 

 o Manage the company in the most economic and efficient manner, with special regard to the interest of  
 the policyholders; and

 o To prepare a comprehensive report and make recommendations on whether the insurer should be placed  
 under liquidation.

•	 Insurer placed under investigation – an insurer was placed under investigation in November 2010 following 
suspicions that it was not financially sound. After reviewing the investigation report, RIRF confirmed that 
indeed the insurer had capital adequacy and solvency problems. The office prepared an intervention plan for 
the insurer which is meant to assist the insurer to restore financial soundness. RIRF has directed the insurer to 
implement the plan over a one year period under close supervision and the office is monitoring progress on a 
monthly basis.

•	 Broker placed under investigation – During October 2010, an insurance broker was placed under investigation 
following a complaint submitted to the office for violating the provisions of the Insurance Act relating to the 
abuse of broker’s trust account, operational problems and failure to timely remit premiums collected from 
policyholders to the insurer. The complaint also indicated that some of the premiums had been outstanding 
for some time with the result that one insurer repudiated certain claims. 

•	 Broker’s license revoked – An insurance broker had its license revoked as a result of various contraventions of 
the Insurance Act, the Broker’s Code of Conduct and the Fit and Proper Guidelines. RIRF also declared one 
of the directors of the broker as not fit and proper to transact in the insurance and retirement funds industries 
and the director was further debarred from applying for a new license for a period of 5 years.

•	 Fines imposed to various entities – During the year under review, an insurer was fined E25,000 for dealing with 
an unregistered intermediary. The unregistered intermediary was fined E20,000 for transacting in insurance 
business without a license. Two funeral schemes were also fined E10,000 each for transacting in insurance 
business without a license. All entities paid the fines and are now in the process of complying with legislation.

•	 A Board of Trustees dissolved – During the year under review; RIRF dissolved the Board of Trustees of a 
Retirement Fund because the board was not properly constituted in terms of section 8 of the Retirement 
Funds Act. A new board was put in place and a process for electing member trustees was agreed upon by the 
members of the fund.

•	 A retirement Fund placed under rehabilitation – a retirement fund was placed under rehabilitation for a period 
of one year following the dissolution of the board of trustees. During the rehabilitation period, the functions 
of the trustees have been delegated to the employer until a new board is in place. RIRF continues to play its 
supervisory role over the activities of the fund.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued
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Circulars Issued

a. Circular no.1/2011 on Professional Indemnity and Fidelity Guarantee insurance
 This circular requires insurance brokers to increase professional indemnity and fidelity guarantee cover when 

their insurance book of business accelerates above the minimum amount stipulated in the Insurance Act.

Consumer Protection and Education

a. Industry Open Day
 For the first time, RIRF hosted the Insurance and Retirement Funds Industry Open Day which was a historic 

event for the industry, stakeholders and consumers of insurance and retirement funds products and services. 
The main objective of the industry day was to create a forum for interaction between consumers, the general 
public and various players in the market; thereby affording consumers the opportunity to know which 
companies are registered and operating in Swaziland and the products that are available in the market. 

 Even though the event took place after the review period, on 14 May 2011, actual planning started before 31 
March 2011. The event took place at Mavuso Trade Centre in Manzini and was honoured by the presence of 
the Minister of Finance and the Manzini Regional Administrator. Twenty-two companies participated in the 
event, including insurers, brokers, retirement funds, fund administrators, corporate agents and investment 
managers. The attendance was quite impressive with an audience of about ten thousand people. Each 
participating entity was allocated an exhibition space inside the main hall whilst the arena was being used for 
entertainment and outdoor exhibition. 

 Feedback obtained from participating exhibitors was to the effect that their stands reported overwhelming 
visits by the audience with most recording unprecedented sales on the day. As a result of the overwhelming 
success of the event, RIRF has taken a decision to host the event annually.

b. Radio Programme
 RIRF continued to run radio programmes in an effort to educate listeners about the work of the office. A 

fifteen minutes program is running with the Swaziland Broadcasting and Information Services (SBIS). The 
programme is aired every Thursday at 2.30pm and covers various topics on the insurance and retirement funds 
markets. All technical staff from all departments participate in the programme and they continue to empower 
the public with understanding the insurance and retirement funds environment.

c. Breakfast meeting with the media
 As part of its public awareness campaign, RIRF is focussing on those constituencies where the office has 

not made inroads. The media has been identified as one of such constituencies and for this reason, the office 
invited media practitioners from all media houses to a breakfast meeting. The objective of the meeting was 
to capacitate the media on the mandate of the office and its role in the development of the insurance and 
retirement funds industries. Staff members from all departments within the office made formal presentations 
to the audience. Thereafter journalists were allowed to pose questions to the Registrar and the presenters. The 
meeting was a success and well attended by representatives from all the media houses.

d. Complaints Handling
 RIRF continues to receive complaints from consumers and other members of the public. A majority of  

these complaints relate to delayed payments of insurance claims and retirement benefits, disagreements  
on the calculation and allocation of either death or retirement benefits and disagreements on whether  
retirement funds should apply vesting scales. Some of the complaints have been referred to the office of  
the Insurance and Retirement Funds Adjudicator for determination.



Research
 a. Micro Insurance study
  The delivery of insurance products and services at affordable costs to low income segments of society  

 has become a common objective for many regulators in the insurance sector among developing countries.  
 The regulation of micro insurance has become a strategic focus area for the IAIS, and hence RIRF has  
 followed suit. It is for this reason that in January 2011, RIRF commissioned CENFRI (Centre for  
 Financial Regulation and Inclusion) to conduct a research of the Swaziland insurance landscape with a  
 view to determine the opportunities for and challenges to micro insurance development, specifically  
 relating to the regulation of micro insurance. 

  The research studied the market context taking into account key aspects of Swaziland’s social, economic,  
 political and demographic environment that may impact on micro insurance. 

  CENFRI has submitted its first draft report which is currently being reviewed by RIRF. The draft report  
 makes recommendations on the aspects of the regulatory framework that should be adjusted to facilitate  
 micro insurance and it also proposes a strategy for RIRF to regulate micro-insurance. It also identifies  
 some of the key issues that need to be considered in developing a micro insurance model which suits the  
 country’s needs. Prior to the submission of the draft report, RIRF in conjuction with CENFRI conducted  
 a stakeholder workshop at the Tums George Hotel in Manzini where CENFRI summarised the findings  
 of the review carried out during their country visit in April 2011 and outlined the proposed regulatory  
 strategy to the stakeholders.

 b. Study on sustainability of retirement benefits in Swaziland
  The Office has initiated a survey to get an understanding of the sustainability of retirement benefits in  

 Swaziland. The survey is a research study whose main objectives are to:
	 	 •	 Investigate	the	relevance	of	retirement	income	to	the	needs	of	retirees;
	 	 •	 Analyse	the	impact	that	the	taxing	of	retirement	benefits	has	on	contractual	savings	and	consumption	 

  behaviour in Swaziland;
	 	 •	 Assess	the	adequacy	of	retirement	products	provided	by	insurers	and	intermediaries	to	supplement	 

  retirement income such as retirement annuities, unit trusts and other post retirement solutions; and 
	 	 •	 Assess	the	regulatory	infrastructure	of	the	Swaziland	retirement	system	and	the	foundation	provided	 

  by the current system model.

  The research is still ongoing and it is expected that its findings will assist the office to gain insight  
 into the views of employees, fund members and beneficiaries on retirement funds by identifying gaps  
 in  the current system. It will also assist the office in putting strategies in place to properly monitor and  
 evaluate the implementation of retirement funds rules and legislative framework. The findings of the  
 survey will also benefit Government as a policy maker, the financial services sector, civil society and the public.

Legislative Issues
During the year under review, RIRF reviewed and updated the Insurance Act and the Retirement Funds Act. The 
purpose of the review is to harmonise the two Acts with the Financial Services Regulatory Authority Act of 2010 and 
to align the Acts with International standards. The proposed insurance amendments were circulated for consultation 
to the industry input in April 2011 and the industry was given two months to submit written contributions. RIRF 
has carefully reviewed all industry comments and modified the proposed amendments as appropriate. RIRF has sent 
these to the relevant authorities to continue with the legislative process. Meanwhile, the office has posted on its website 
proposed amendments to the Retirement Funds Act and currently collating industry comments.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued
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RETIREMENT FUNDS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

As already mentioned in the licensing section, registration of retirement funds continued during the year under review. 
However, the collection of financial data through quarterly returns continued to lag behind due to funds being slow 
in their submissions. In an attempt to obtain meaningful and current financial industry data on retirement funds, the 
latest sets of audited financial statements were used to aggregate industry financial data.

Some comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated to reflect new information that was not 
available when the 2010 annual report was compiled. 



The Industry Income Statement above highlights that overall the net income for the period declined by 14% from 
E2.2million in 2010 to E1.9million in 2011. The main reason for the decline is evident in the expense line called Provision 
for impairment which was posted by one of the major funds representing doubtful contributions receivable from the 
employer. This has resulted in a significant overall expense ratio of 25%, which has increased from 8% expense ratio in the 
prior year.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued

28

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR OF INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS

RETIREMENT FUNDS - INDUSTRY SUMMARY 

INCOME STATEMENT

Year End

Income/
Expense  
Ratios

Notes 31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

INCOME    

Contributions 36% 1 921 698 024 933 427 945 919 998 110 
Investment Income (Losses) 62% 2 1 607 380 783 1 442 506 076 (445 373 902) 
Other Income 2% 3 60 116 503 56 433 634 48 236 259 
Total income 100% 2 589 195 310  2 432 367 655 522 860 467 

% Movement from year to year 6% 365% -

    
EXPENSES    
Premiums paid 2% 5 41 116 603 36 409 947 33 745 011 
Professional fees paid 3% 6 69 864 503 54 946 779 52 812 454 
Provision for impairment 17% 452 940 666                        -   -   
Regulatory levies and service fees 0.3% 7 012 793 7 607 572 6 593 065 
Administration expenses 3% 7 83 856 914 84 202 600 73 832 483 
Total expenses 25% 654 791 479 183 166 898 166 983 013 

% Movement from year to year 257% 10% -

    
Net Income for the period 75% 1 934 403 831 2 249 200 757 355 877 454 

    
ACCUMULATED FUNDS    
At the beginning of the period 12 810 067 183 11 205 430 075 11 493 453 158 
Net Income for the period 1 934 403 831 2 249 200 757 355 877 454 
Net accumulated Fund before benefits 14 744 471 014 13 454 630 832 11 849 330 612 

    
Benefits paid 4 (842 933 569 ) ( 644 563 649) (643 900 537) 
    
Accumulated funds at the end of the period 13 901 537 445 12 810 067 183 11 205 430 075 

% Movement from year to year 9% 14% -
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RETIREMENT FUNDS - INDUSTRY SUMMARY 

STATEMENT OF FUNDS AND NET ASSETS

Year End

Notes 31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

ASSETS     
Fixed Assets               123 463 806              123 629 693             111 499 810 
Investments 8        13 490 704 587        12 800 606 679       11 182 907 510 
     
Current assets     
Account receivable                27 730 255                39 288 094               34 031 538 
Arrear contributions              497 085 544                79 394 678               84 761 121 
     
Total assets  14 138 984 192 13 042 919 144 11 413 199 979 

                                   -   
FUNDS     

Accumulated funds/Liability for future 
benefits & surpluses

 13 901 537 445 12 810 067 183 11 205 430 075 

     
Current liabilities     

Benefits payable  187 784 737     178 075 370   160 329 533 
Accounts payable                49 662 010                54 776 591               47 440 371 
     
Total funds and liabilities  14 138 984 192 13 042 919 144 11 413 199 979 

The Statement of Funds and Net Assets above shows that as at 31 March 2011, the retirement funds’ assets totalled 
E14,14 billion (2010: E13.04 billion) and this represents a 5% increase from prior year. 

Notes to the Financial Statements of the Retirement Funds Industry
The notes that follow analyse each of the significant lines of the Income Statement as well as the Statement of Funds 
and Net Assets.

Note 1 – Contributions 

NOTE 1 - CONTRIBUTIONS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Contributions    
Member contributions - regular 306 617 185 304 196 897 274 248 419
Employer contributions 598 529 682  616 258 797 634 838 711 
Employer Ex Gratia /Extraordinary Contributions 2 293 667   6 193 360 7 649 066 
Member additional voluntary contributions 11 827      9 299  
Transfers-In  14 245 663   6 769 592 3 261 914 
    
Total  921 698 024 933 427 945  919 998 110 

% Movement from year to year (1%) 1% -
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The contributions table above shows that total contributions during the year decreased from E933 million in 2010 to 
E922 million in 2011, representing an overall decrease of 1%.
As already highlighted under the Supervisory Challenges section, the decrease represents funds that have been 
liquidated as well as those employers that have downsized as a result of the Economic Challenges.

Note 2 –Investment Income

NOTE 2 - INVESTMENT INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Investment Income    
Dividends 54 272 438 43 651 777 47 494 898 
Interest 234 183 937 205 641 161 147 516 042 
Net realised gains/losses on financial assets 844 464 815 177 485 310 870 833 859 
Fair value adjustments through Income Statement 474 459 593 1 015 727 828 (1 511 218 701) 
    
Total 1 607 380 783  1 442 506 076 (445 373 902) 

 % Movement from year to year  11%  424% - 

2011 INVESTMENT INCOME RATIOS

Dividends - 3%

Interest - 15%

Net realised gains/losses on 
financial assets - 53%

Fair value adjustments through 
Income Statement - 29%

53%

29% 15%

3%
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The table and pie chart above indicate that retirement funds saw some increase in Investment Income. The total 
investment gains recorded by retirement funds were at E1.61 billion (2010: E1.42 billion). This scenario represents an 
overall increase of 11% in investment income during the year.

The pie chart shows that 29% of these gains arose from fair value gains of financial assets as the markets recovered. 53% 
represents net realised gains on financial assets, 15% represents interest income and 3% represents dividend income.  
 
Note 3 – Other Income

From the table above it is evident that other income is dominated by rental income of E30 million which was earned 
by those funds with investment property. GLA proceeds represent claims recoveries from insured group life policies. 
This income category saw a 7% increase from prior year.

 

OTHER INCOME

Rent - 50%

GLA recoveries proceeds - 38%

Sundry Income - 12%

50%

38%

12%

NOTE 3 - OTHER INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Other income    

Rent                30,367,301                30,292,334 25,250,609
Sundry Income                   7,134,105                  7,674,311 3,565,427
GLA recoveries proceeds                22,615,097                18,466,989 19,420,223
    
Total 60,116,503 56,433,634 48,236,259 

% Movements from year to year 7% 17% -

RETIREMENT FUNDS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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Note 4 – Benefits Paid

The benefits paid table above shows that a total of E843 million was paid as retirement benefits during the period 
under review, compared to E645 million in 2010. This represents a 31% increase from prior year. 

This significant increase is attributable to lump sum benefits paid on retirement which alone increased from E188 
million in 2010 to E287 million in 2011, representing 53% increase. Retirement benefits paid as monthly pension or 
annuity also contributed to the increase with a 35% increase.

NOTE 4 - BENEFITS PAID

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Retirement benefit paid (Pension/annuity)   320,857,192 236,971,809        212,293,071 
Periodic Payments to beneficiaries    7,248,948   5,275,724 45,704,166 
Lump sum benefit paid:
   On death and disability   86,942,426    91,292,335 93,050,184 
    On retirement   286,743,897 187,897,196 172,269,892 
   On withdrawal     54,558,975    44,841,283 46,179,350 
Transfers to other funds     2,324,564    2,980,240   5,802,270 
Interest on members funds    79,781,315 75,305,062 68,601,604 
Voluntary Early Retirement     4,476,252                             -   -

Total 842,933,569   644,563,649 643,900,537 

% movement from year to year 31% 0.1% -
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Year Ended

A
m

ou
nt

M
ill

io
ns

900

800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

E644m E645m

E843m

31
 M

ar 
20

09

31
 M

ar 
20

10

31
 M

ar 
20

11



33

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Note 5 – Premiums Paid

Total premiums paid to insurers during the year increased from E36 million in 2010 to E41 million in 2011, representing 
an increase of 13%.

Note 6 - Professional Fees 

NOTE 5 - PREMIUMS PAID

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Group life  and funeral premiums                39,165,510               34,350,673               31,769,623 
Permanent Health Insurance (PHI) premium                   1,951,093                 2,059,274                 1,975,388 

   

Total              41,116,603           36,409,947            33,745,011 

% Movement from year to year 13% 8% -

TOTAL PREMIUMS PAID
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NOTE 6 - PROFESSIONAL FEES PAID

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Actuarial fees                   1,530,213                      740,926                     879,649 
Audit fees                   2,182,143                  1,905,670                 1,757,111 
Fund administration fees                14,642,873                12,275,223               11,335,809 

Investment management fees                49,679,738                38,411,045               36,563,954 
Legal fees                      758,008                      811,137                 1,059,127 
Consultants fees                   1,071,528                      802,778                 1,216,804 

Total                 69,864,503             54,946,779              52,812,454 

% Movement from year to year 27% 4%                                -   

RETIREMENT FUNDS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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Note 6 – Professional Fees Paid

The table and pie chart above indicate a significant portion of the professional fees being paid to investment managers. 
A total of E47 million versus E38 million in 2010, representing 71%, was paid to investment managers during the year 
under review. A total of E15 million versus E12 million in 2010 and representing 21%, was paid to fund administrators.
The analysis also shows an overall increase of 27% in total professional fees paid, from E55 million in 2010 to E70 
million in 2011. 
 

2011 - PROFESSIONAL FEES PAID 

Investment management 
fees - 71%

Fundamental administra-
tion fees - 21%

Audit fees - 3%

Actuarial fees - 2%

Consultation fees - 2%

Legal fees - 1%

71%

21%

2% 3%
1%

2011 - PROFESSIONAL FEES PAID 

Year Ended

A
m

ou
nt

M
ill

io
ns

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

E53m
E55m

E70m

31
 M

ar 
20

09

31
 M

ar 
20

10

31
 M

ar 
20

11

2%



35

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Note 7 – Administration Expenses

Administration expenses of E83.9 million (2010: E84.2 million) represents mainly expenses incurred by self-
administered funds such as PSPF, SNPF and MOPADO. An overall decrease of 0.4% in expenses was experienced 
during the year.

Note 8 – Investments

Investment Mix of Retirement Funds Assets 

NOTE 7 - ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Advertising and Communication to members 1,482,505 1,926,989 1,757,097 
Bank charges 2,029,096 1,991,084 1,767,821 
Board expenses 2,430,573 2,972,077 2,835,084 
Computer expenses 935,224 885,356 426,518 
Depreciation 4,723,086 4,958,811 4,990,404 
General expenses    1,390,471        1,519,296     3,886,487 
Licenses        1,724,203    1,808,682   1,557,991 
Insurance         773,165        725,370           619,894 
Motor vehicle expenses 138,409          120,627   190,754 
Postage and telephone             713,299     632,510    633,517 
Printing and stationery  2,721,480 3,076,497    5 425,955 
Rent, property and office expenses   15,832,450 15,427,501 12,662,157 
Repairs and maintenance       965,563  997,537     719,759 
Salaries, wages and allowances 46,513,811  43,325,332  34,794,783 
Social Investments     941,612  1,249,635  1,108,852 
Travel and entertainment     333,278       211,555 212,465 
Public Functions                    -      2,185,199                   -   
Training expenses    208,689        188,542 242,945 

Total  83,856,914  84,202,600  73,832,483 

% Movement from year to year (0.4%) 14%                              
-   

RETIREMENT FUNDS - LOCAL VS FOREIGN ASSETS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Total local investments 3,618,499,127  3,657,486,061     1,746,872,527 
Total foreign investments 9,872,205,460          9,143,120,618        9,436,034,983 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS (E) 13,490,704,587 12,800,606,679 11,182,907,510 

% Local investments to total investments 27% 29% 16%
% Foreign investments to total investments                    73% 71% 81%

TOTAL INVESTMENT - %                 100% 100%                      100%

RETIREMENT FUNDS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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The investment mix above shows that 27% of retirement assets are invested in Swaziland as at 31 March 2011. This is 
3% below the 30% that is required by legislation. 

 RETIREMENT FUNDS - TOTAL INVESTMENTS (E)
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RETIREMENT FUNDS INDUSTRY – LOCAL INVESTMENTS 

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

LOCAL INVESTMENTS

Swaziland Stock Exchange 318,753,122              286,069,754           212,944,287 

Unlisted shares 74,003,570             186,718,907            25,683,511 

Bonds 487,089,076              586,324,360             49,444,577 

Property 345,484,632              317,282,072             317,525,125 
Cash and money market instruments 2,313,496,722 2,207,195,946 1,137,900,962 
Insured Retirement Funds 79,672,005 73,895,022             3,374,065

TOTAL LOCAL INVESTMENTS 3,618,499,127 3,657,486,061       1,746,872,527

 % Movement from year to year (1%) 109% - 

2011 - LOCAL INVESTMENTS BY ASSET CLASS 2010 - LOCAL INVESTMENTS BY ASSET CLASS
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The table and pie chart comparisons above show that 64% or E2.3 billion (2010: E2.2 billion) continued to be invested 
in cash and money market instruments via the commercial banks and investment managers. The pattern of local asset 
class mix remains the same as prior year, and this is a clear sign that local investment instruments are still not available 
to absorb the 30% local requirement. 

RIRF continues to monitor compliance by retirement funds and efforts towards compliance by the funds are still in 
the pipeline.

2011 - FOREIGN INVESTMENTS BY ASSET CLASS 2010 - FOREIGN INVESTMENTS BY ASSET CLASS
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NOTE 8 – FOREIGN INVESTMENTS 

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

FOREIGN INVESTMENTS BY ASSET CLASS:

Johannesburg Stock Exchange 5,922,188,581           5,150,942,809 5,532,215,884
Cash and money market instruments 1,006,129,479           1,562,559,709 1,219,867,958
Bond exchange of South Africa 1,088,018,959           1,178,632,193 929,793,035
Offshore equities 1,496,886,689              738,090,125 128,599,048
Orbis Mutual Funds 13,834,542             410,102,779 1,258,899,774
Offshore bonds 160,369,950 151,733,106 9,528,797
Commodities - 113,974,590 357,130,487
Offshore cash 26,524,191 23,143,243 -
Equity linked derivatives - (186,057,936)                            -
Property      158,253,069 -                           -

TOTAL FOREIGN INVESTMENTS   9,872,205,460 9,143,120,618      9,436,034,983        

% Movement From Year To Year 8% (3%) -

RETIREMENT FUNDS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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The table above shows that a total of E9.9 billion (2010: E9.1 billion) assets are invested outside Swaziland, in the 
instruments as laid out. 

INVESTMENTS BY ASSET MANAGER

The table that follows analyses the investment managers that have been engaged by retirement funds to invest their 
assets. The pie chart also shows the percentage (%) market share of each investment manager. 

INVESTMENTS BY ASSET MANAGER

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

INVESTMENTS BY ASSET MANAGER

Allan Gray 3,721,496,778           3,365,726,072 3,365,551,456
Coronation 2,233,444,885          1,948,755,157 1,683,773,595 
STANLIB 1,566,074,997          1,488,617,690        1,243,616,836 
Rand Merchant Bank Asset Managers 1,271,992,561           1,147,247,469   917,535,006 
African Alliance 1,120,563,542       1,046,877,193  1,010,706,608 
Foord 969,577,041   939,818,805    744,715,953 
Investec 290,629,770  308,960,638    271,784,238 
Old Mutual 99,902,121 113,900,420 103,240,368 
Insured Funds 79,672,006 73,895,021 3,374,065
Interneuron 60,469,478 55,469,478 12,972,146 

Ten 50 Six Life Limited - 34,793,668   27,520,976 
Momentum SA -    7,170,749      6,071,260 

Advantage Asset Managers 1,262,965 5,592,165 5,220,585 

Ovation Voluntary Investment Plan 3,972,013   2,972,014 3,683,005 

Sanlam Securities -       45,771            53,709 

 Other self-administered assets       2,071,646,430      2,260,764,369   1,783,087,704 

Total     13,490,704,587 12,800,606,679 11,182,907,510 

2011 - INVESTMENTS BY ASSET MANAGER
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LONG TERM INSURANCE BUSINESS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

As at 31 March 2011, there were six long term insurers operating in Swaziland, namely:
•	 Liberty Life Swaziland; 
•	 Metropolitan Life Swaziland;
•	 Momentum Life Swaziland. 
•	 Old Mutual Swaziland;
•	 PFM Swaziland; and
•	 Swaziland Royal Insurance Corporation (SRIC); 

The following sections outline how the long term insurance industry performed during the year to 31 March 2011. 
Comparative data for 2010 and 2009 is also tracked for trend analysis purposes. 

Worth mentioning for the benefit of the reader is the fact that the following data was captured from audited financial 
statements of the companies, and most of them have their financial year ends as 31 December. However, for RIRF 
purposes, these figures have been used as best estimates of the industry as at 31 March 2011.

INSURANCE INDUSTRY - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued
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The key highlight of the Industry Income statement above is the fact that the industry remained profitable during the 
year. The ratio analysis below will indicate and explain why there has been a decline in profitability.

LONG TERM INSURANCE - INDUSTRY AGGREGATE DATA

INCOME STATEMENT

Year End

Notes 31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Premiums received     
Insurance premiums revenue 1 283,736,763 240,662,041       150,323,166 
Less: (Insurance Premiums ceded to reinsurers) 1 (22,913,931) (14,019,844)  (16,113,278) 
Net Insurance premiums revenue  260,822,832  226,642,197 134,209,888 

     
Fee Income 2 7,276,763  8,775,064  7,634,800 
Investment Income 3   132,252,534 100,650,858          (2,723,005) 
Net Income (A)  400,352,129  336,068,119 139,121,683 

     
Net Insurance Benefits and Claims 4 314,591,369 261,199,601  132,997,251 
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance and 
investments contracts (Commission)

5  14,002,679  16,768,473 11,758,391 

Expenses for marketing and administration 5       426,000 296,000 186,000
Other operating expenses 6 62,404,020 28,233,225    28,119,618 
Total expenses (B)  391,424,068 306,497,289    173 ,061,260 

     
Profit/(Loss)  before tax (A - B)    8,928,061    29,570,830      (33,939,577) 

LONG TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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LONG TERM INSURANCE - INDUSTRY AGGREGATE DATA

LONG TERM INSURANCE - BALANCE SHEET

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

ASSETS    
Property, Plant and Equipment                   5,414,495                   6,742,041  5 260,889 
Intangible assets                      124,824                      250,050         437,531 
Investments 1,053,866,276 821,084,392   620 184,716 
Loans and receivables                 55,945,076 55,827,592    41 809,243 
Deferred tax                      538,000                                -                                       -   

Total assets   1,115,888,671        883,904,075   667,692,379 

    

EQUITY    

Capital and reserves    
Ordinary shares       45,362,000 33,220,000  12,000,200 
Share premium and Shareholders' funding  75,785,370   71,265,370  19,999,800 
Other reserves        -             -      45,698,420 
Retained earnings  103,768,905  94,901,270 (33,939,576) 
 Total equity    224,916,275        199,386,640        43,758,844 

    

LIABILITIES    

Insurance contracts/policy holders' liabilities  664,274,952 573,015,370 584,039,493 
Investment contract liabilities 163,294,578  3,750,000          -   
Derivative financial instruments        -    48,044,000      -   
Trade and other payables  63,402,866   59,708,065 39,894,042 
Total liabilities 890,972,396 684,517,435 623,933,535 

    

Total equity and liabilities 1,115,888,671  883,904,075 667,692,379 

A key highlight of the balance sheet is the fact that the trend analysis shows that the long term insurance sector saw an 
increase in total assets from year to year. This is also accompanied by an increase in Net Assets.  The ratio analysis below 
will show that the industry is adequately capitalised.

An analysis of how these assets have been invested will be discussed in the Investments section later in the document.
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LONG TERM - PREMIUM MARKET SHARE 

INCOME STATEMENT

Year End

% 
Market 
share

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 % Change

SRIC 35% 98 188 932  115 517 780  15% decline
Metropolitan 12% 35 003 000 72 198 612  52% decline
Liberty Life 12%  34 317 000 26 472 825  30% increase
Old Mutual 35%  99 577 052  14 439 722  590% increase
Momentum 6% 16 650 779    12 033 102  38% increase
     
Total Gross premium 100% 283 736 763 240 662 041  

Even though there were six registered long term insurers, the data represents only five insurers. The sixth insurer had 
not yet submitted their audited financial statements at the time of compiling this report. From quarterly returns 
received from this insurer, we can safely assume that their business is still insignificantly low and the five players form a 
representative estimate size of the industry.

2011 - LONG TERM INSURANCE PREMIUM 
MARKET SHARE
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Industry performance

Growth in Premium Income – The long-term insurance industry saw an increase in net premium income from E227 
million in 2010, to E261 million in 2011. This represents a 15% increase growth. The premium growth was recorded 
by the majority of industry players, as newer entrants gained market share since starting to operate locally.

Long-term premium market shares analysis – the pie charts that follow will analyse the market share of industry 
players for both 2011 and 2010. 

LONG TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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The pie charts above show that there has been a major shift in market shares as follows:
• SRIC saw a decline in market share from 48% in 2010 to 35% 2011. 
•	 Old Mutual gained a significant share from 6% in 2010 to 35% in 2011, and now equal to SRIC. 
•	 Metropolitan lost a significant share from 30% in 2010 to only 12% in 2011. 
•	 Liberty Life only gained a 1% market share increasing from 11% to 12%.
• Momentum also gained a 1% market share, increasing from 5% to 6%. 

New players upsetting the status quo - The landscape of the long term insurance sector has changed significantly 
following the liberalisation of the industry in 2006. Before liberalisation, SRIC was the only official provider of 
insurance. The 2005 Insurance Act and the establishment of RIRF created a framework necessary for the entrance of 
other players into the market. Almost all the above new players on the long term side were not so new in actual fact, 
in the sense that they had been writing insurance policies from across the border with South Africa long before 2005. 
However, since registering local companies and producing local financial data, the players are increasingly vying for a 
larger share of the pie; hence we are seeing a major shift from previous year.

Key industry ratios for long-term insurance – the ratios table below is divided into three categories, namely ratios 
measuring profitability, industry growth and financial prudence. The three ratio categories matter to the extent that 
they address the concerns of customers, investors and regulators. A profitable industry assures further investment from 
current and new investors. Good industry growth might signify that consumers consider insurance valuable, whereas 
solvency and liquidity are paramount concerns for RIRF, as an industry regulator.

KEY PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

PROFITABILITY RATIOS:    

1. Incurred expense ratio = Incurred Expenses/Earned Premiums 29% 33% 43%
2. Incurred Claims ratio = Incurred Claims/Earned Premiums 46% 65% 55%
3. Combined Ratio = Incurred Expenses ratio + Incurred Claims ratio 75% 98% 98%
4. Net Income ratio = Net Income / Earned Premium 3% 13% -25%

5. Return on equity  = Net Income / Equity 4% 15% -78%

 

INDUSTRY GROWTH RATIO:

6. Premium growth ratio = percentage change in earned premiums 
                                             between current year and previous year

18% 60% -

 

FINANCIAL PRUDENCE RATIOS:

7. Solvency Ratio = Admitted Assets /  Total Liabilities 125% 128% 106%

8. Liquidity ratio = Available cash / short term payables 68% 68% 54%
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Profitable, with acceptably decreasing expenses – 

1. The Incurred expense ratio for 2011 was 29%, declining from 33% and 43% in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
In calculating this ratio, we have added commission “plus” expenses for marketing “plus” all other operating 
expenses, as a percentage of net premium income. A low expense ratio shows that the industry is cost effective 
in selling its products. 

2. The Incurred Claims ratio for 2011 has also declined from 65% in 2010 to 46% in 2011. In calculating 
this ratio, we used data from Note 4 using the formula, total insurance benefits and claims less increase in 
policyholder liability, in order to arrive at actual claims expenses incurred during the year. Even though there 
is a decline, the trend analysis in this ratio shows that the industry is delivering good customer value, because 
a significant portion of the premiums are ‘paid back’ to the consumers in the form of claims.

3. The Combined ratio is the sum of the two ratios above and should ideally be below 100% (or else the insurer 
can only make profit on investment income). The trend analysis above shows that in all cases the combined 
ratio was less than 100% of earned premiums, with 2011 showing a significant improvement in the ratio from 
98% in both 2009 and 2010 to 75% in 2011.

4. The Net Income Ratio declined from 13% in 2010 to only 3% in 2011. This significant decline is attributable 
to a significant 131% increase in policyholder liabilities (see note 4), recorded by some of the players who saw 
a significant growth in premium market share. Therefore, meanwhile total net income increased by 19% from 
E336 million in 2010 to E400 million in 2011; total expenses increased by 28% fromE306 million in 2010 
to E391 million in 2011, thereby contributing to a major decline in net income by 70% from E30 million in 
2010 to E9 million in 2011.

5. The Return on Equity (RoE) Ratio is a measure of investor value. This ratio declined from 15% in 2010 to 
only 4% in 2011. This is consistent with the decline in Net Income as analysed above. This is an indication 
that investors still have to pump more capital into the insurance industry in order to ensure capital adequacy 
to meet policyholder liabilities.

Industry growth lower than previous year – 

6. The Premium Growth Ratio is a measure of industry growth. Meanwhile in 2010 we saw an increase of 60% 
in premium income, this year the industry only grew by 18%. As already highlighted above that most of the 
new entrants were not in actual fact new, the significant increase in 2010 was only due to the fact that for the 
first time, these industry players started submitting local audited financial statements to RIRF. Therefore the 
increase may have been artificial. The 2011 increase of 18% may be said to be the first genuine indication of 
industry growth, and this trend will be monitored going forward.

Industry is fairly solvent and liquid - 

7. A great deal of the viability of an industry depends on the degree to which debts and payables can be settled, 
as insolvency and illiquidity might lead to an insurer failing to settle customer claims.  The trend in the 
Solvency Ratio shows that the industry is above 100%, implying that the industry is well able to meet its 
future obligations, including insurance claims not yet accounted for. The trend in the Liquidity Ratio shows 
that the industry is below 100%, implying that the Cash and Cash equivalents can only settle 68% of the 
short term obligations. In order to settle 100% of the short term obligations, the industry players may have 
to liquidate some of their long term investments. 

LONG TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements of Long term Insurance Business

The notes that follow will break down the makeup of the key lines of the financial statements above.

Note 1 – Premiums revenue

This note highlights that premium income increased from E241 million in 2010 to E284 in 2011, representing an 18% 
increase. This increase is however lower than the 60% increase in 2010. See the Premium Growth ratio above for an 
analysis of this trend.

Note 2 – Fee Income

The table above shows that fee income came from three sources, namely, investment contracts, commissions from 
reinsurers and administration fees. The current year overall fee income shows an decrease of 17% versus an increase of 
15% recorded in 2010.

NOTE 1:  PREMIUM REVENUE

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Long term insurance contracts 278 929 923 220 900 827  99 385 974 
Contributions from Pension and Retirement annuity schemes 4 806 840 19 761 214 50 937 192 

 Total Gross Premiums 283 736 763  240 662 041 150 323 166 

 % Movement from year to year 18% 60% -

REINSURANCE PREMIUNS CEDED TO REINSURERS (22 913 931) (14 019 844) (16 113 278 )

NOTE 2: FEE INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Policy and investments administration services:    
Investment contracts 438 871 970 000  226 972 

Commission Income 14 000 1 331 051 311 455 

Administration fees 6 823 892 6 474 013  7 096 373 
    

Total fee income 7 276 763 8 775 064   7 634 800 

 % Movement from year to year -17% 15% - 
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Note 3 – Investment Income

The table above indicates that long term insurers also saw a 31% increase in investment income as the industry continued 
to recover from the global economic crisis. The total investment gains recorded by long term insurers were at E132 
million versus E101 million in 2010 as well as versus investment losses of E3 million in 2009. 

Note 4 – Insurance Benefits and Claims

NOTE 3: INVESTMENT INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Dividend income 60 449 610               -                                -   

Interest income  13 759 089 69 238 775 69 238 775 

Net realised gains on Financial Assets 6 571 000 3 468 000                             
-   

Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through 
Income Statement  

51 472 835 22 596 833 (77 309 030) 

Rental Income                     -          5 347 250 5 347 250 
Total investment income 132 252 534    100 650 858 (2 723 005) 

% Movement from year to year 31% 3796%  -

NOTE 4: INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Insurance Benefits and Claims    

Death, maturity and surrender benefits  131 160 442 126 862 750 77 264 087

Increase in policyholder liability    194 738 814 84 399 924 41 936 242 
Pension and Retirement claims    4 222 747 57 364 421 16 019 699 
Less: Reinsurance recoveries   (15 530 634) (7 427 494) (2 222 777) 
    

 Total   314 591 369 261 199 601 132 997 251

% Movement from year to year 20% 96% - 

LONG TERM INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS   
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Note 6 – Other Operating Expenses

As shown above, benefits and claims, net of reinsurance recoveries, totalled E315 million (2010: E261 million) and 
(2009: E133 million) during the year under review. A significant increase is observed in the Increase in policyholder 
liability line which shows an increase of 131% increase from prior year. This increase is consistent with increase in 
premium growth recorded by some of the insurers. 

Note 5 – Commission and Marketing expenses

NOTE 5: COMMISSION AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

a) Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contract (Commission):    

Costs incurred for the acquisition of insurance contracts expensed 15 811 952 16 768 473 11 758 391 
Less: (Commission earned from reinsurance contracts) (1 809 273) -                                                  

-   
Total 14 002 679 16 768 473 11 758 391

b) Marketing and administrative expenses    

Marketing and administrative expenses 426 000 296 000 186 000

    

Total Commission and Marketing expenses 14 428 679 17 064 473 11 944 391

NOTE 6: OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Employee Costs   20 251 436    13 728 373     12 308 528 
Purchases of goods and services  15 183 219 8 221 733        7 029 143 
Management Fees 15 117 824 1 123 895       2 782 915 
IT costs   3 633 742 3 081 198          2 381 083 

Directors fees and travel  3 444 464 574 559        2 178 142 
Operating lease rentals 1 942 261 482 371           438 519 
Depreciation  1 605 565      436 731            593 553 

Auditors remuneration 659 688                     -                              

RIRF levy fees 563 640 584 365             407 735 

Interest expense 2 181                 -                  -   

    

Total other expenses 62 404 020 28 233 225      28 119 618 

% movement from year to year 121% 0.4%  

The table above shows that other expenses totalled E62.4 million (2010: E28.2 million) and (2009: E28.1 million). 
These expenses have increased by 121% from prior year and have contributed significantly to the decline in profitability. 
The increase in expenses represents the increase in the operational activities of newer players. 
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The table and bar chart above show that the total investments have been increasing steadily from year to year, 
with an overall increase 28% in 2011 and 32% in 2010.

INVESTMENT MIX OF THE LONG TERM INSURANCE INDUSTRY

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS - LOCAL Vs FOREIGN ASSETS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Total local investments 284 863 972 200 787 519 121 355 968

Total foreign investments  769 002 304    620 296 873    498 828 748

Total Investments (E) 1 053 866 276    821 084 392    620 184 716

% Movement from year to year 28% 32% -

    

% Local investments to total investments 27% 24% 20%

% Foreign investments to total investments          73%          76%           80%

Total Investments (%)        100%        100%         100%

LONG TERM INSURANCE INVESTMENTS - LOCAL VS FOREIGN ASSETS
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LONG TERM INSURANCE - LOCAL INVESTMENTS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Swaziland Stock Exchange      7 115 420 4 673 847 4 673 847 

Bonds   29 848 231 2 670 770   2 670 770 
Property     72 454 400 57 000 000 40 000 000 
Cash and money market instruments     175 445 921 136 442 902 74 011 351 

TOTAL LOCAL INVESTMENTS: 284 863 972 200 787 519 121 355 968 

LONG TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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The comparison of 2011 and 2010 pie charts show that the pattern of investment mix did not change significantly 
from year to year. A major change was seen in the increase in bonds from 1% in 2010 to 10% in 2011. This also resulted 
in a decrease in Cash and Money Market instruments from 68% in 2010 to 62% in 2011.

LONG TERM INSURANCE - FOREIGN INVESTMENTS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Johannesburg Stock Exchange 404 971 366 362 660 400 328 566 191 

Cash and Money Market instruments  90 724 833 40 422 192 26 707 695 
Bond exchange of South Africa    159 313 579 161 924 231 96 816 395 
Offshore equities    23 758 526 18 128 887   33 384 619 
Offshore bonds   90 234 000 37 161 163 13 353 848 

TOTAL FOREIGN INVESTMENTS BY INVESTMENT 
CLASS:

769 002 304 620 296 873 498 828 748 

    

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 1 053 866 276 821 084 392 620 184 716 

2011 - LONG TERM INSURANCE LOCAL  
INVESTMENTS

2010 - LONG TERM INSURANCE LOCAL  
INVESTMENTS
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SHORT TERM INSURANCE BUSINESS - FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

As at 31 March 2011, there were four short term insurers registered in Swaziland, namely:
•	 Getmed	Swaziland
•	 Lidwala	Insurance	Company
•	 Orchard	Insurance
•	 Swaziland	Royal	Insurance	Corporation	(SRIC)	

The following sections outline how the short term insurance industry performed during the year to 31 March 2011. 
Comparative data for 2010 and 2009 is also tracked for trend analysis purposes. 

Worth mentioning for the benefit of the reader is the fact that the following data was captured from audited financial 
statements of the companies, and most of them have their financial year ends as 31 December. However, for RIRF 
purposes, these figures have been used as best estimates of the industry as at 31 March 2011.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued
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The key highlight from the income statement above is the fact that the short term business was profitable during the 
year, earning a profit before tax of E97 million (2010: E88 million) and (2009: E19 million). This represents an overall 
increase of 11%% from prior year. 

SHORT TERM INSURANCE - INDUSTRY AGGREGATE DATA

INCOME STATEMENT

Year End

Notes 31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Premiums received

Insurance premiums revenue 1 332 276 038 333 377 229 300 938 941
Less: (Insurance Premiums ceded to reinsurers) 1      (105 594 463) (117 097 280) (97 975 274)
Net Insurance premiums revenue 226 681 575 216 279 949 202 963 667

Fee Income 2 4 248 818 3 885 553 5 141 415
Investment Income 3   45 465 438 55 872 373 (17 346 834)
Net Income (A) 276 395 831 276 037 875 190 758 248

Insurance claims and loss adjustment expenses 4 122 274 408 140 545 078 136 056 048
Less: (Insurance claims and loss adjustment 
expenses recovered from reinsurers)

4   (4 428 063) (12 125 735) (14 228 244)

Net insurance claims 117 846 345 128 419 343 121 827 804

   
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance 
contracts (Commission)

5 14 163 464 17 091 327 12 505 771

Expenses for marketing 5 421 721 1 024 892 -
Other operating expenses 6   46 720 953 41 617 457 37 342 301
Total expenses (B) 179 152 483 188 153 019 171 675 876

Results from Operating activities (A - B) 97 243 348 87 884 856 19 082 372

Less: Finance Costs (81 829)               -               -   
Profit before tax 97 161 519 87 884 856 19 082 372

Less: (Income tax expense) (33 517 153) (26 514 762) (5 978 216)
  

Net Profit for the year 63 644 366    61 370 094 13 104 156

SHORT TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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SHORT TERM INSURANCE - INDUSTRY AGGREGATE DATA

BALANCE SHEET

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

ASSETS    
Property, Plant and Equipment 29 432 447 27 927 178 26 995 722

Intangible assets 399 575 450 162 333 350

Deferred income tax assets 2 370 154 540 702 820 642
Financial Assets 430 326 136 364 706 364 280 643 479
Loans and other receivables 62 255 210 53 538 052 71 487 350
Technical Assets 65 991 763 84 666 832 73 198 304

    

Total assets 590 775 285 531 829 290 453 478 847

    

EQUITY    

Capital and reserves    

Ordinary shares 5 950 000 6 464 969 2 000 000

Share premium 2 929 420   

Other reserves 16 465 477 14 425 477 13 803 255

Retained earnings 290 201 507 236 588 660 197 709 516

 315 546 404 257 479 106 213 512 771

    

LIABILITIES    

Insurance contracts/policy holders' liabilities 214 807 870 233 449 010 208 071 342

Trade and other payables 60 421 011 40 901 174 31 894 734

Total liabilities 275 228 881 274 350 184 239 966 076

    

Total equity and liabilities 590 775 285 531 829 290 453 478 847

A key highlight of the balance sheet is the fact that the trend analysis shows that the short term insurance sector saw an 
increase in total assets from year to year. This is also accompanied by an increase in Net Assets.  The ratio analysis below 
will show that the industry is adequately capitalised.

An analysis of how these assets have been invested will be discussed in the Investments section later in the document.

Industry performance

Growth in Premium Income – The short-term insurance industry saw an increase in net premium income from E216 
million in 2010, to E227 million in 2011. This represents a 5% growth. 

Short-term premium market shares analysis – the table below analyses the market share of industry players for both 
2011 and 2010. 
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SHORT TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued

Even though there were four registered short term insurers, the data represents only two insurers. The other two insurers 
had not yet submitted their audited financial statements at the time of compiling this report. From quarterly returns 
received from these insurers, we can safely assume that their business is still insignificantly low and the two players form 
a representative estimate size of the industry.

The table above shows SRIC is still enjoying 99% market share in the short term premium business. Lidwala Insurance 
Company submitted their audited financial statements for the first time and they reflect that they only gained a 1% 
market share so far.

Key industry ratios for short-term insurance – the ratios table below is divided into three categories, namely ratios 
measuring profitability, industry growth and financial prudence. As already highlighted under the long term section, 
the three ratio categories matter to the extent that they address the concerns of customers, investors and regulators. A 
profitable industry assures further investment from current and new investors. Good industry growth might signify 
that consumers consider insurance valuable, whereas solvency and liquidity are paramount concerns for RIRF, as an 
industry regulator.

PREMIUM MARKET SHARE 

Year End

% 
Market 
share

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 % Change

SRIC 99% 329 509 657 333 377 229 -1%
Lidwala Insurance Company 1% 2 766 381                              -   100%
Orchard Insurance  -                            -                                -   0%
Getmed Swaziland  -                     -                                -   0%
Total Gross premium 100%     332 276 038 333 377 229  

KEY PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

PROFITABILITY RATIOS:    

1. Incurred expense ratio = Incurred Expenses/Earned Premiums 27% 28% 25%
2. Incurred Claims ratio = Incurred Claims/Earned Premiums 52% 59% 60%
3. Combined Ratio = Incurred Expenses ratio + Incurred Claims ratio 79% 87% 85%
4. Net Income ratio = Net Income / Earned Premium 43% 41% 9%

5. Return on equity  = Net Income / Equity 31% 34% 9%

 

INDUSTRY GROWTH RATIO:

6. Premium growth ratio = percentage change in earned premiums 
                                             between current year and previous year

5% 7% -

 

FINANCIAL PRUDENCE RATIOS:

7. Solvency Ratio = Admitted Assets /  Total Liabilities 156% 133% 117%

8. Liquidity ratio = Available cash / short term payables 173% 189% 175%



Profitable, with acceptably decreasing expenses – 

1.  The Incurred expense ratio for 2011 was 27%, remaining fairly stable from the 25% recorded in 2009 and 
the 28% recorded in 2010. In calculating this ratio, we have added commission “plus” expenses for marketing 
“plus” all other operating expenses, as a percentage of net premium income. A low expense ratio shows that 
the industry is cost effective in selling its products. The trend in this ratio from year to year fall within the 
25% to 30% range that is followed by for example large experienced South African short-term insurance 
companies.

2.  The Incurred Claims ratio for 2011 has also declined from 59% in 2010 to 52% in 2011. Even though there 
is a decline in this ratio from year to year, the trend analysis in this ratio shows that the industry is delivering 
good customer value, because a significant portion of the premiums are ‘paid back’ to the consumers in the 
form of claims. 

3. The Combined ratio is the sum of the two ratios above and should ideally be below 100% (or else the insurer 
can only make profit on investment income). The trend analysis above shows that in all cases the combined 
ratio was less than 100% of earned premiums, with 2011 showing a significant improvement in the ratio 
from 85% in 2009, 87% in 2010 to 79% in 2011.

4. The  Net Income Ratio grew from 9% in 2009 to 41% in 2010 and finally to 43% in 2011. A big driver of 
the increase in net income was the positive fair value adjustment following the recovery in global financial 
markets.

5. The  Return on Equity (RoE) Ratio is a measure of investor value. This ratio declined slightly from 34% 
in 2010 to 31% in 2011. This is attractive considering that the returns on alternative investments such as 
government bonds are far lower.

Slow premium growth

6. The Premium Growth Ratio is a measure of industry growth. The trend in this ratio seems to be modest at 
5% in 2011 and 7% in 2010. The small ratio might imply that either the short term industry is mature or that 
it is struggling to attract new customers.

Industry is fairly solvent and liquid - 

7. A great deal of the viability of an industry depends on the degree to which debts and payables can be settled, 
as insolvency and illiquidity might lead to an insurer failing to settle customer claims.  The trends in both the 
Solvency and liquidity Ratio show that the industry is above 100%, implying that the industry is well able to 
meet its future obligations, including insurance claims not yet accounted for. 

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements of Short Term Business

Note 1 – Premium Revenue

NOTE 1:  PREMIUM REVENUE
Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009
Short-term insurance contracts:    

Premium receivable 330 870 627    332 745 827    293 240 926 

Change in unearned premium provision 1 405 411           631 402 7 698 015 

Premium revenue arising from insurance contracts 332 276 038    333 377 229  300 938 941 

Less: Premiums ceded to short term reinsurers (105 594 463) (117 097 280) (97 975 274) 

Net insurance premium revenue  226 681 575 216 279 949  202 963 667 

Gross premiums received during the year totalled E332 million (E2010: E333million) and (2009: E301 million), out 
of which E106 million (2010: E117 million) and (2009: E98 million) was ceded to reinsurers. As already analysed by 
the industry growth ratio above, the short term premium growth is only modest and might imply that either the short 
term industry is mature or that it is struggling to attract new customers.. 
 
Note 2 – Fee Income 

Note 3 – Investment Income

NOTE 2: FEE INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Policy administration  services:    

Insurance policy administration fees 4,246,818 3,885,553 5,141,415
                                                            
Total fee income   4,248,818    3,885,553   5,141,415

NOTE 3: INVESTMENT INCOME

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Dividend and Interest income 40,633,590 17,299,318 21,796,103
Fair value adjustments through Income Statement 4,831,848 38,553,055 (39,663,354)
Other operating income                         -            20,000         520,417

Total investment income        45,465,438     55,872,373  (17 346 834)

SHORT TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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Note 4 – Insurance Claims

Note 5 - Commission and Marketing Expenses

During the year under review, short term insurers paid a total of E43 million in commission and recovered E29 million 
as commission earned from reinsurance contracts.  A total of E0.4 million was spent on marketing and administration 
expenses during the year. 

NOTE 4: INSURANCE CLAIMS

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Claims and loss adjustment expenses    
Gross insurance claims [paid?] 116,046,348 121,132,711 143,553,747
Change in the provision for claims       6,228,060     19,412,367     (7,497,699)

    122,274,408   140,545,078 136,056,048

Reinsurance recoveries   

Gross reinsurance recoveries (12,224,192) (10,503,379) (19,948,865)

Less: change in provision for reinsurance recoveries       7,796,129     (1,622,356)       5,720,621

     (4,428,063)   (12,125,735)  (14,228,244)

   

Net insurance claims   117,846,345   128,419,343   121,827,804

NOTE 5: COMMISSION AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

a) Expenses for the acquisition of insurance contracts 
    (Commission paid):

   

      Costs incurred for the acquisition of insurance contracts 42,672,594 40,705,918 34,132,879
      Less: (Commission earned from reinsurance contracts) (28,509,130) (23,614,591) (21,627,108)

                                                                  

Total expenses for the acquisition of insurance  contracts     14,163,464    17,091,327   12,505,771

 

b) Marketing expenses and other administration expenses

      Marketing  expenses 421,721 1,024,892 -

 

Total commission and marketing expenses 14,585,185     18,116,219   12,505,771
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Note 6 – Other Operating expenses

INVESTMENT MIX OF THE SHORT TERM INSURANCE INDUSTRY

The table above show the other operating expenses incurred in running the short term insurance business, the biggest 
being staff costs at E19.8 million (2010: E17.8 million) and (2009: E17.2 million). The overall increase in other 
operating expenses represents 12% in 2011 and a consistent 11% in 2010.

NOTE 6: OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009

Employee costs 19,766,091 17,801,305 17,171,212 
Software licences and maintenance fees 7,334,034         9,050,617         6,800,696 

Regulatory levies 3,178,359         3,634,735         3,554,500 

Asset management fees 4,941,216         2,756,219         2,831,918 

Repairs and maintenance 2,464,160         2,169,642         1,899,804 

Management fees 1,689,330 - -

Actuarial fees 1,386,935    1,564,765        449,185 

Audit fees 1,382,986   1,307,566    1,522,443 

Depreciation 1,519,404         1,381,726         1,397,234 

Operating expenses 1 050 430 - -

Directors fees 595,352            619,075            688,350 

Professional fees 494,387            592,807            445,801 

Amortisation of intangible assets 783,689            505,642            416,625 

Operating lease rentals -   215,709             -   

Legal fees 134,580              17,649            164,533 

                                                                      

Total other expenses     46,720,953     41,617,457     37,342,301 

% Movement from year to year 12% 11%

SHORT TERM INSURANCE INDUSTRY - LOCAL Vs FOREIGN INVESTMENTS
Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009
Total local investments 225,037,243 226,335,210 186,607,064

Total foreign investments 365,738,042 305,494,080 266,871,784

Total Investments (E) 590,775,285 531,829,290 453,478,848

% Movement from year to year 11% 17% -

   

% Local investments to total investments 38% 43% 41%

% Foreign investments to total investments 62% 57% 59%

Total Investments (%) 100% 100% 100%

SHORT TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued



The summary above shows the short term insurance industry is well above the 30% local investment required by 
legislation.
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 SHORT TERM INSURANCE INDUSTRY- LOCAL INVESTMENTS
Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009
Swaziland Stock Exchange   1,330,000             1,330,000 1,330,000 

Unlisted Shares   36,657,276           34,582,336 34,000,000 

Property   29,420,001 28,400,000 25,000,000 

Cash and money market instruments   128,782,890 129,007,356 104,073,998 
Other Balance Sheet Assets 28,847,076 33,015,518 22,203,066 
TOTAL LOCAL INVESTMENTS 225,037,243 226,335,210 186,607,064 
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The comparison of 2011 and 2010 pie charts show that the pattern of investment mix did not change significantly 
from year to year. 

The table above shows that a total of E225 million (2010: E226 million) and  (2009: E187 million) short term 
insurance assets were invested in Swaziland, with a large portion 57% invested in cash and money market instruments. 

The table above shows that a total of E366 million (2010: E305 million) and (2009: E267 million) insurance assets 
were invested outside Swaziland, with a large portion (55%) invested in the Johannesburg Stock Exchange ( JSE). 

SHORT TERM INSURANCE INDUSTRY - FOREIGN INVESTMENTS
Year End

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009
Johannesburg Stock Exchange 199,350,714 169 716 842 166 771 585 

Cash and Money Market instruments  68,296,594 58 144 173 42 714 983 

Bond exchange of South Africa   68,126,488  57 999 353  42 608 593 

Offshore equities  21,499,682  18 303 712 13 446 623 
Offshore bonds     8,464,564  1 330 000  1 330 000 
TOTAL FOREIGN INVESTMENTS 365,738,042  305 494 080 266 871 784 

SHORT TERM INSURANCE- FINANCIAL OVERVIEW - continued
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TOTAL INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS ASSETS UNDER RIRF SUPERVISION

The total assets of the Insurance and Retirement Funds industries as at 31 March 2011 stood as follows:

The table and bar chart above show that the total Insurance and Retirement Funds assets have been increasing steadily 
from 2009 to 2011. 2010 saw an increase of 15% from E13 billion to E14 billion, meanwhile 2011 saw an increase of 
10% from E14 billion to E16 billion.

31-Mar-2011 31-Mar-2010 31-Mar-2009
Retirement Funds industry 14,138,984,192 13,042,919,144 11,413,199,979

Long term insurance industry 1,115,888,671 883,904,075 667,692,379

Short term insurance industry      590,775,285         531,829,290      453,478,847

      
TOTAL 15,845,648,148 14 458 652 509 12,534,371,205

% Movement from year to year 10% 15% -
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Report of the Independent Auditors
To the Minister of Finance 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement 
Funds(RIRF), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the income statement, the 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages  67 to  81.

The Registrar’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

RIRF’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Insurance Act of 2005 and 
Retirement Funds Act of 2005. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RIRF as of  
31 March 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Insurance Act of 2005 and Retirement 
Funds Act of 2005.
 

Supplementary Information

We draw your attention to the fact that the supplementary information set out on page 82 does not form part of the 
financial statements and is presented as additional information. We have not audited this information and accordingly 
do not express an opinion thereon.

Kobla Quashie and Associates        31 July 2011
Chartered Accountants (Swaziland)
Manzini
Daniel Bediako
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The Registrar’s Approval and Statement of Responsibility

Management is required by the Insurance Act of 2005 and Retirement Funds Act of 2005, to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of RIRF as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to 
express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates.

Management acknowledge its ultimate responsibility for the system of internal financial control established by RIRF 
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the RIRF to meet these 
responsibilities, management sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout RIRF and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
RIRF’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 
management in RIRF is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across RIRF. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, RIRF endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

Management is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management has reviewed RIRF’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2012 and, in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that RIRF has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on RIRF’s financial statements. The 
financial statements have been examined by RIRF’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 66.

The financial statements set out on pages 68 to 82, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the management on 31 July 2011 and were signed on its behalf by:

Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds                                              Manager: Finance and Corporate Services
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Statement of Financial Position

Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2011 2010

Assets
Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 1,922,882 1,730,606

Financial Assets 4 2,000,000 1,000,000
3,922,882 2,730,606

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 5 1,732,960 4,579,241

Cash and cash equivalents 6 22,798,975 18,836,666

24,531,935 23,415,907

Total Assets 28,454,817 26,146,513

Equity and Fund balances

Guaranteed fund 7 21,578 20,473

Deferred grant income 8 17,391,429 16,141,429

Retained income 10,131,445 9,163,393

27,544,452 25,325,295

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 335,865 821,218

Provision 13 574,500 -

910,365 821,218

Total Equity and Liabilities 28,454,817 26,146,513
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Comprehensive Income Statement

Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2011 2010

Income 20,030,209 19,523,868

Operating expenses (15,062,157) (10,604,103)
Operating profit 2 4,968,052 8,919,765

Deferred government grant  (4,000,000) (5,000,000)

Surplus for the year 968,052 3,919,765
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in Emalangeni Guaranteed
Fund

Designated
funds

Retained
income

Total equity

Opening balance as previously reported 20,473 11,141,429 (3,919,765) 7,242,137
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy - - 9,163,393 9,163,393

Balance at 01 April 2009 as restated 20,473 11,141,429 5,243,628 16,405,530

Changes in equity
Surplus for the year - - 3,919,765 3,919,765
Transfer to designated funds - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000

Balance at 01 April 2010 20,473 16,141,429 9,163,393 25,325,295

Changes in equity
Interest in guaranteed fund 1,105 - - 1,105

Transferred to deferred income - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000

Surplus for the year - - 968,052 968,052

2010 3rd and 4th quarter forfeited - (2,750,000) - (2,750,000)

Balance at 31 March 2011 21,578 17,391,429 10,131,445 27,544,452
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Statement of Cash Flow

Figures in Emalangeni Note(s) 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 12 4,202,717 2,241,162

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (503,215) (77,719)

Sale of property, plant and equipment  11,700 -

Financial Assets (1,000,000) (1,000,000)

Net cash from investing activities (1,491,515) (1,077,719)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net movement on guranteed fund 7 1,105 -

Designated funds 1,250,000 5,000,000

Net cash from financing activities 1,251,105 5,000,000

Total cash movement for the year 3,962,307 6,163,443

Cash at the beginning of the year 18,836,668 12,673,225

Total cash at end of the year 6 22,798,975 18,836,668
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Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of Financial Statements

Background Information

The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds (RIRF) is a regulatory authority established by the 
Insurance Act of 2005 and the Retirement Funds Act of 2005.

RIRF is a regulatory body established to regulate the Insurance and Retirement Funds Industries in the kingdom 
of Swaziland. RIRF’s mandate is to ensure that all local insurers and retirement funds comply with insurance and 
Retirement Funds Acts, enforce that 30% of the insurers funds be invested locally and ultimately to protect the 
consumer i.e the average Swazi from exploitation by the industry players.

This office currently reports directly to the Minister of Finance. With the promulgation of the Financial Services 
Regulatory Authority (FSRA) Act of 2010, the operations of RIRF currently fall under the Transitional provisions as 
stipulated in section 91 (3) of the FSRA Act.

The Consolidated Financial Statement incorporate the following:

- The Registrar’s Levies Account as per Sections 37 and 38 of the Insurance Act 2005;
- The Registrar’s Guarantee Account as per Sections 41 and 42 of the Insurance Act 2005 and 
- The Insurance and Retirement Trust Fund as per sections 43 and 44 of the Insurance Act 2005.

The following are the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statement as set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied in all material respects with those of the previous year, unless 
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
available –for-sale financial assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statement in conformity with IRFS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its    judgment in the process of applying RIRF accounting policies. Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may 
differ from those estimates.

1.1 Property , plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized as an asset when:

- it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to RIRF; and 
- the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, pant and equipment and costs 
incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognized in the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

Item Rate
Furniture and fixtures 10%
Office equipment 10%
IT equipment 33.33%

The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed at each financial period – end.

72

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR OF INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS



Accounting Policies - continued

1.1  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the 
item shall be depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.2  Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are carried at the lowest levels for which there 
are seperately identifiable cash flows(cash generating units).

1.3  Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to RIRF 
and the amounts of revenue can be reliably measured.

Levies

Levies are recognised when the regulated entities are invoiced based on the following:

- Short Term insurer -  1.25% of gross written premium less commission.
- Long Term Insurer -  0.07% of the insurer’s total assets.
- Retirement Funds - 0.07% of total assets.
- Brokers - 1.25% of total commission received during the financial year.
- Agents - 1.25% of total commission received during the financial year.
- Fund Administrators  - 1.25% of fee income received during the year.
- Investment Managers  -  1.25% of fee income derived from insurance and retirement Fund’s clients.

Registration fees

Revenue arising from registration fees are recognised on a cash basis upon registration.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method. When a receivable is 
impaired, RIRF reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cashflow discounted 
at original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest 
income on impaired loans is recognised either as cash if collected or on a cost—recovery basis as conditions warrant.
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Accounting Policies - continued

1.4  Financial instruments  - continued

Initial recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet on the date when RIRF becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet include:

 - Cash and cash equivalents
 - Accounts receivable
 - Accounts payable
 - Investments
 - Borrowings

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 
these instruments are measured as set out below:

Investments

RIRF classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at 
initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value 
through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held 
for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are 
either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(b) Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise when RIRF provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with 
no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 
12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are 
included in trade and other receivables in the balance sheet.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments

 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that RIRF’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Gains and 
losses on held to maturity investments are recognized in equity.
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Accounting Policies - continued

1.4  Financial instruments  - continued

(d)  Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified 
in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose 
of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

 Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date — the date on which RIRF commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial 
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and RIRF has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in 
the income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity. When securities 
classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the 
income statement as gains and losses from investments securities.

 The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), RIRF establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the 
use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted 
cashflow analysis, and the option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances.

 RIRF assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a company 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the 
securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss 
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in 
the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the income statement on equity instruments are not 
reversed through the income statement.

 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, and instruments which are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

 For purposes of the cashflow statement, cash includes cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of bank 
overdrafts, all of which are available for use by RIRF unless otherwise stated.

 Trade and other receivables

 Accounts receivable are carried at anticipated realisable value. An estimate is made for doubtful receivables 
based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. Bad debts are written off during the year in which 
they are identified.
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Accounting Policies - continued

1.4  Financial instruments 

Accounts payable

Accounts payable comprise trade accounts payable and accruals. These are measured at fair value. 

Liabilities and provisions

RI RF recognises lia bilities,including provisions, when:

 - it has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and

 - it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to

  settle the obligation, and

 - a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Contingent liabilities

RIRF discloses a contingent liability where:

 - it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only  
 by the occurrence or non occurence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control  
 of RIRF, or

 - it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation,or
 - the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless RIRF has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Offset

Where a legally enforceable right of offset exists for recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is an 
intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, all related financial effects are offset.

1.5  Tax

 RIRF is exempt from income taxes as it falls within the ambit of the definition of an “Exempt Organisation” as 
stipulated in Section 2 of the Income Tax Order 1975 as amended.
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Accounting Policies - continued

1.6  Government grants

 Capital based government grants are included within deferred income in the balance sheet and credited to 
profit over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate. Revenue based government 
grants are credited to profit in the period in which the expenditure to which they relate is incurred.

1.7  Leases

 Where RIRF enters into a lease which entails taking substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 
asset, the lease is treated as a ‘finance lease’. The asset is recorded in the balance sheet as a tangible fixed asset and 
is depreciated over its estimated useful life or the term of lease, which ever is shorter. Future instalments under 
such leases, net of finance charges, are included within creditors. Rentals payable are apportioned between the 
finance element, which is charged to the profit and loss account, and the capital element which reduces the 
outstanding obligation for future instalment. All other leases are accounted for as ‘operating leases’ and the 
rental charges are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the life of the lease.

1.8  Financial risk management 

 Financial risk factors

 RIRF activities expose it to a variety of risks, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest risk.

 The RIRF’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the entity.

 Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Registrar . The Registrar identifies, evaluates 
and hedges financial risks in cooperation with the office’s operations. The Registrar provides written principles 
for overall risks management, as well as for specific areas such as interest rate risk, credit risk,and investing 
excess liquidity.

 Liquidity risk

 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 
availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out 
market positions. RIRF remains confident that the available cash resources will be sufficient to meet its funding 
requirements.

 Credit risk

 Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as 
credit exposures to corporate, government and individual customers, including outstanding receivables and 
committed transactions.

 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

 RIRF’s income and operating cash flow are affected, but not to a significant extent, by changes in the market 
interest rates.

 Fair value estimation

 The nominal value less impairment provision of trade payables and receivables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate receivable to RIRF for similar financial instruments.
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Accounting Policies - continued

1.9  Employee benefits  

 Provident Fund Obligations

 The RIRF Provident Fund is a defined contribution plan. For defined contribution plans RIRF pays 
contributions to the privately administered retirement fund on a contractual basis. Once the contributions 
have been paid, RIRF has no further payment obligations. The regular contributions constitute net periodic 
costs for the year in which they are due, and as such are included in staff costs.

 Terminal Benefits

 Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. RIRF 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed either to terminate the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

 Defined contribution plans

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

 Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the company’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.10  Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which RIRF operates(“the functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Emalangeni(“E”), 
which is the functional and presentation currency of RIRF.

78

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR OF INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS



Notes to the Financial Statements

 2011 2010

2. Operating Profit

    Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:   

    - Auditors fees 60,000 60,000

    - Other fees   8,400   8,400

68,400 68,400

    Operating lease charges

    Premises   

    -   Contractual amounts 634,175 575,853

     

    Insurance Board Fees 322,363 259,514

    Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 296,410 350,095

    Employee costs (note 10) 7,953,537 6,275,253

  

3. Property, plant and equipment

2011 2010
Cost/

Valuation
 Accumulated

depreciation
Carrying

value
Cost/

Valuation
 Accumulated

depreciation
Carrying

value

Furniture and fixtures 2,111,066    (608,253)     1,502,813        1,751,946         (419,762)          1,332,184

Office equipment 405,074 (125,406)        279,668           396,884       (85,285)             311,599

IT equipment 564,793       (424,392)        140,401           448,333     (361,510)               86,823

Total 3,080,933    (1,158,051) 1,922,882   2,597,163     (866,557)     1,730,606

Reconciliation of property, plant equipment -2011

Opening Balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 1,332,184 359,120 - (188,491)        1,502,813

Office equipment    311,599     8,190 - (40,121)           279,668

IT equipment      86,823  135,905 (14,529)   (67,798)           140,401

1,730,606 503,215 (14,529) (296,410)  1,922,882

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment-2010

Opening Balance Additions Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 1,507,378 - (175,194)  1,332,184

Office equipment 305,559 44,744    (38,704) 311,599

IT equipment 190,044 32,975 (136,196) 86,823

2,002,981 77,719 (350,094) 1,730,606

4.  Financial Assets

This represents investment in Swaziland Building Society
Permanent shares 2,000,000 1,000,000
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Accounting Policies - continued

Figures in Emalangeni 2011 2010

5. Trade and other receivables

    Trade debtors and other receivables 1,434,964 1,666,687

    Prepayment 98,351 42,978

    Government subvention (3rd and 4th quarter) - 2,750,000

    Staff loans 199,645 119,576

1,732,960 4,579,241

6. Cash and cash equivalents

    Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

    Cash on hand 2,000 2,000

    Bank balances 22,796,975 18,834,666

22,798,975 18,836,666

    Bank balances consist of the following:

    Standard Bank Swaziland Limited 835,020 1,987,160

    Swaziland Building Society - Gold Account 21,578 20,473

    Stanlib/ Liberty Life Swaziland 16,663,874 16,722,783

    First National Bank of Swaziland 5,232,289 104,250

    Special Savings 44,214 -

22,796,975 18,834,666

7. Guaranteed fund

    Guaranteed fund 21,578 20,473

    This represents funds in respect of amounts being held in accordance with section 41(f ) of the Insurance Act,2005.

8. Deferred grant income. 

    This represents Government subvention earmarked for future activities for RIRF.

    Balance at the beginning of the year 16,141,429 11,141,429

    Deferred government grant for the year 4,000,000 5,000,000

    2010 3rd and 4th quarter subvention forfeited (2,750,000) -

17,391,429 16,141,429

9. Trade and other payables

    Trade payables 156,270 377,491

    Other payables 111,195 375,327

   Accrued audit fees 68,400 68,400

335,865 821,218

10. Commitments 

      In November 2007,RIRF entered into an operating lease agreement with the Public Service Pension Fund.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Figures in Emalangeni 2011 2010

10. Commitments (continued)

      Operating lease rentals amount to E42,980 per month with an annual fixed esclation rate of 10%. As at 31 March   
   2011, the monthly rentals had escalated to E52 005.80.

11. Employee costs 
   The average number of employees during the year was 26(2010:17)

      Salaries 7,327,138 5,950,266

      Other benefits 626,399 324,987

7,953,537 6,275,253

12. Cash generated from operations

      Surplus before taxation 968,052 3,919,765

      Adjustments for:

     Depreciation and amortisation 296,410 350,095

      Movements in provisions 574,500 -

      Other non-cash items 2,827 -

      Changes in working capital:

      Trade and other receivables 2,846,281 (2,376,405)

      Trade and other payables (485,353) 347,707

4,202,717 2,241,162

13. Provision

      Reconciliation of provision - 2011

                                                                                                                      Opening Additions              Total

                                                                                                                      Balance  

      Provision 1                                                                                                                -          574,500 574,500

    The gratuity provision represents management’s best estimate of RIRF’s liability under one period in particular being the

     Registrar’s provision for gratuity .
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Detailed Statement of Comprehensive Income

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR OF INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS

Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2011 2010

Government grants 4,000,000 5,500,000
Registration fees 428,932 665,712
Interest received 1,200,832 964,481
Levies fee 14,365,295 12,383,762
Sundry income - 9,913
Penalties charged 35,150 -

20,030,209 19,523,868

Operating expenses

Accounting fees 1,350 -
Advertising 200,036 121,379
Auditors remuneration 68,400 68,400
Bank charges and interest paid 69,533 43,515
Cleaning 20,749 18,660
Computer expenses 90,833 11,680
Consulting and professional fees 893,537 131,694
Consumer education expenses 272,321 234,124
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 296,410 350,095
Employee costs 7,953,537 6,275,253
Staff uniform 217,298 -
Gratuity 574,500 -
Legal expenses 105,218 156,168
Loss on sale of non current asset 2,827 -
Insurance board fees and expenses 580,465 259,514
Insurance 130,912 242,616
Internet expenses (233,384) 107,203
Lease rentals on operating lease 634,175 575,853
Office expenses 26,732 32,619
Postage 13,633 5,167
Printing and stationery 215,947 291,216
Promotions 243,917 61,538
Repairs and maintenance 85,184 65,508
Staff welfare 81,592 20,668
Subscriptions 168,720 143,524
Telephone and fax 247,907 185,571
Training 400,146 344,586
Travel - local 127,485 48,672
Travel - international 1,518,767 762,147
Utilities 53,410 46,733

15,062,157 10,604,103

Operating Surplus 2 4,968,052 8,919,765

Deferred government grant (4,000,000) (5,000,000)

Surplus for the year 968,052 3,919,765

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited
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General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile Swaziland

Nature of business and principal activities Regulator of Insurance and Retirement Funds in accordance
 with: 1.  The Insurance Act of 2005; and
            2.  The Retirement Funds Act of 2005

Business address 5th Floor
 Public Service Pension Fund (Ingcamu) Building    
 Mhlambanyatsi Road
 Mbabane
 H 100

Postal address P. O. Box 3365
 Mbabane, H100, Swaziland

Bankers Standard Bank (Swaziland) Limited
 First National Bank Swaziland
 Swaziland Building Society

Auditors Kobla Quashie and Associates
 Chartered Accountants (Swaziland) Manzini

Management Team Mr Sandile S Dlamini - Registrar
 Ms Gugu Makhanya - Finance and Corporate Services 
 Mrs Nina C Dlamini - Licensing and Inspections
 Ms Thuli Nkwanyana - Legal, Policy & Intervention

Website Address www.rirf.co.sz

Email Address rirf@swazi.net
 info@rirf.co.sz

Contact Numbers Tel: +268 2406 8000
 Fax: +268 2404 7930
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During the year under review, RIRF employees had the opportunity to attend the training programmes and seminars 
as listed below:

a. Executive Secretaries and Personal Assistants Conference - one of RIRF staff members participated in this 
conference which was held in Sandton, Johannesburg between 12 and 16 April 2010. The purpose of the 
conference was to equip participants with skills relevant to their day to day demands on the job.

b. Pension Fund Conference – two of RIRF staff members participated in this conference which was held in 
Livingstone, Zambia between 4 and 7 May 2010. The main highlight of the conference centred around 
retirement funds in distress as well retirement reputation management.

c. Financial Services Board (FSB) Consumer Education Familiarisation program – four of RIRF staff members 
participated in this annual program, which was held in Pretoria between 17 and 21 May 2010. 

d. Toronto Centre – Leadership in Financial Supervision – two of RIRF staff members attended the Toronto 
Centre seminar on Crisis Preparedness for Insurance Supervisors, held in Johannesburg between 23 and 28 
May 2010. The main purpose of the seminar was to equip participants and their regulatory authorities with 
skills in the following areas:

 • The identification of early warning signs of impending problems within regulated entities
 • The analytical skills based on available legislation; and 
 • Ability to develop a contingency plan to deal with the crisis.

e. Australian transaction report and analysis centre (AUSTRAC) – one of RIRF staff members attended 
this regional workshop, titled Anti-Money Laundering Lifecycle at the invitation of the Central Bank of 
Swaziland Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU). This workshop was held in Windhoek, Namibia from 24 to 
26 May 2010. The main purpose of this workshop was to assist FIUs in the Southern and Eastern African 
region to develop their capacity to detect and deter money laundering by focusing on three core components 
of the AML lifecycle: starting with raising awareness about AML matters followed by industry’s obligation to 
report to their FIU, and then dissemination of financial intelligence to law enforcement and partner agencies 
through industry supervision and the role of compliance.

f. In-house training – Life Insurance risk management – eight RIRF staff members participated in this in-
house training facilitated by Acumen Actuaries which was a continuation of the training above. This course 
ran for 3 days from 19 to 21 July 2010. 

g. In-house training - General Insurance risk management – the same eight RIRF staff members participated in 
this in-house training facilitated by Acumen Actuaries which was a continuation of the training above. This 
course ran for 3 days from 2 to 4 August 2010. 

h.  Basic receptionist training – Customer care programme – two RIRF staff members attended this training 
programme offered by Mananga Centre for regional integration and management development. The purpose 
of this four weeks programme was to up skill our support employees with front office skills as they manage the 
reception now and again.
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Annexure 1 - Training, Bursaries, Conferences and Other 
Development Programmes - continued  

i. In-house training – Microsoft excel training – an in-house training was organised for all professional staff 
members to help them improve their efficiency in the use of Microsoft excel. 

j. Old Mutual Trustee Training on Investment strategies – two RIRF staff members who are members of the 
board	of	Trustees	attended	this	workshop	on	3	June	2010	at	Royal	Villas.	The	purpose	of	this	workshop	was	
to up skill trustees on different investment strategies. 

k. Micro-insurance meeting – Promoting successful regulatory and supervisory approaches for increased access to 
insurance – one RIRF staff member participated in the meeting on promoting successful regulatory and supervisory 
approaches for increased access to Insurance. This was held in Basel, Switzerland from 6 to 8 July 2010.

l. AITRI Workshop on Risk Management for Insurance Supervisors – one RIRF staff member participated in 
this workshop which was held in Singapore from 2 to 5 August 2010.  

m. Computer and Information Management Programme - two RIRF staff members attended this programme 
offered by Mananga Centre. This programme is for beginners in computer usage and was offered to support 
staff to up skill them on office administration.

n. Executive secretaries and personal assistants programme – one staff member attended this programme which 
was held from 18 to 20 August 2010 in Rosebank, South Africa. 

o. ESAAMLG 20th Task Force of Senior Officials meetings – two RIRF staff members attended this meeting 
which was held in Lilongwe, Malawi from 30 August to 3 September 2010. Member countries of the task 
force are Botswana, Lesotho, Kenya, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, South Africa, 
Swaziland, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Members of the task force discussed a number of issues 
and made recommendation for consideration and approval by the Council of Ministers. Key issues discussed 
were as follows:

 • Post Evaluation Monitoring Process and development of AML/CFT (Anti-Money Laundering/  
 Combating the Financing of Terrorism) National Strategies

 • Cooperation with the East African Community Secretariat (EAC) and the Southern African   
 Development Community Secretariat (SADC) in the implementation of AML/CFT  programmes

 • Developments in FATF (Financial Action Task Force) including rights and obligations of ESAAMLG  
 as an associate member of FATF.

p. Pension Law Symposium – This workshop was organised by RIRF for the benefit of members and Trustees of 
Retirement	Funds	in	understanding	and	interpreting	the	Retirement	Funds	Act.	It	was	held	at	Happy	Valley	
Resort on 9 and 10 August 2010 and was facilitated by Professor Mtendeweka Mhango, a Pensions Law 
Professor from University of Witwatersrand (WITS). All RIRF staff members also attended this workshop. 
The main highlights of the workshop were as follows:

 • Types of Pension Funds, namely; Provident Funds, Retirement Annuity Funds and Preservation Funds
 • Formula for calculating Benefits
 • Defined Benefit Funds
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 • Defined Contribution Funds
 • The main role players in a pension fund namely; 
  • active and deferred members, 
  • pensioners and beneficiaries, 
  • management board/trustees,
  •  principal officers, 
  • employers, 
  • the regulator, 
  • tax authorities, and
  • service providers such as valuators, auditors, administrators, investment managers and consultants
 • Dispute resolution under the retirement funds act (RFA)
 • Jurisdiction of the adjudicator
 • Death benefits under section 33 of the RFA
 • Duties of the Management Board under section 33, in consideration of:
  • Factual dependants;
  • Future dependants; 
  • Legal dependants;
  • Nominees;
  • Duty to effect equitable distribution; 
  • Steps to take in Death Benefit cases;
  • Withdrawal Benefits and deductions; and 
  • Allowable deductions

q. IAIS Regional Seminar – for Risk Based Solvency and Supervision for African Supervisors – the Regional 
Seminar for Supervisors in Africa on Risk Based Solvency and Supervision was organised jointly by the 
International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS), the Financial Stability Institute (FSI) and the 
Insurance Regulatory Authority (IRA) of Kenya. Two RIRF staff members attended this seminar from 14 to 
17 September 2010. The seminar covered various topics including:

 • Standard setting activities of the IAIS
 • Risk-based frameworks and processes for solvency and supervision;
 • Capital adequacy and supervisory assessment of solvency positions;
 • Best estimate of the technical provisions
 • Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) and Internal Models
 • Risk-based supervision, including off-site analysis and on-site inspections
 • Corporate Governance, control and compliance; and 
 • Solvency and Supervision of insurance groups

r. In-house training on RIRF Human Resources Policies and Procedures – since RIRF started operating in 
2006, we have been engaging new employees to beef up our regulatory capacity. During the year under review 
a total of nine 9 new staff members were added, over and above the 5 that were added in the previous period. 
In recognition of the fact that these new employees were not part of the group that formulated the Human 
Resources Policies and Procedures manual, a workshop for all RIRF employees was organised. The main 
purpose of the workshop was to familiarise employees of the existing policies and procedures in place, in 

Annexure 1 - Training, Bursaries, Conferences and Other 
Development Programmes - continued
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relation to the labour laws of the country. An independent consultant, Noble Expressions Consultancy was 
engaged to facilitate and coordinate the workshop, ensuring that all management and staff of RIRF equally 
understand the manual, with a view of reviewing and updating it where necessary.

 This was a four day workshop which was broken down into two sessions. The first session which covered four 
of the nine chapters was held from 6 to 7 October 2010 at the Swaziland Water Services Corporation Head 
Quarters conference room, whilst the last five chapters were finalised on 8 to 9 November 2010 at the Royal 
Villas.

s. Dbit Payroll Training – during the year under review, RIRF installed the Dbit payroll system, to replace the 
manual Microsoft excel we have been using since inception of the office. This has been necessitated by the 
increase in staff numbers and the need to ensure that our payroll and tax computations are error free. As part 
of the installation process, two of RIRF employees attended the Dbit training at Dbit Offices in Randburg, 
South Africa from 28 February to 4 March 2011.

Annexure 1 - Training, Bursaries, Conferences and Other 
Development Programmes - continued



Annexure 2: Entities Regulated Under The Insurance Act, 2005 

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR OF INSURANCE AND RETIREMENT FUNDS

88

INSURANCE COMPANIES Licence No. Postal address Telephone
1 Swaziland Royal Insurance Corporation CI/ 01/ 2007 P. O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231
2 Metropolitan Life Swaziland Limited LT/ 01/ 2007 P. O. Box 45, Eveni 2409-0285
3 Old Mutual Life Assurance Company 

(SD) Ltd
LT/ 02/ 2007 P. O. Box 95, Mbabane 2404-5488

5 Liberty Life Swaziland Limited LT/ 03/ 2007 P. O. Box A1294, Swazi Plaza 2404-3444
6 Momentum Insurance (Swaziland) Limited LT/ 06/ 2008 P. O. Box 142, Eveni 2404-1369
7 Lidwala Insurance Company Limited ST/ 01/ 2009 P.O. Box 1552, Manzini 2505-9104
8 Getmed Swaziland (Pty) Ltd ST/ 02/ 2009 P. O. Box 2107, Manzini 2404-7676
9 Orchard Insurance Group ST/ 03/ 2010 P. O. Box 6913, Manzini 2404-8393
10 Safrican Swaziland Insurance Company Ltd LT/ 07/ 2011 P.O. Box C422 Hub Manzini 2505-8710

INSURANCE BROKERS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
1 Isambulo Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7001/ 07 P. O. Box 2107, Manzini 2505-8710
2 RLT Investment (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7003/ 07 P. O. Box 628, Manzini 2505-8553
3 Eliz Corporate Consultants (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7002/ 07 P. O. Box 272, Eveni 2404-4195
4 Excorp Insurance (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7004/ 07 P. O. Box 363, Manzini 2505-4236
5 Fingroup Swaziland (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7005/07 P. O. Box 710, Manzini 2404-5257
6 Impilo Yami Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7006/ 07 P. O. Box 4497, Manzini 2505-4842
7 Eazy Grow International (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7007/ 07 P. O. Box 611, Manzini 2505-4988
8 Zanton Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7008/ 07 P. O. Box A269, Swazi Plaza 2404-3574
9 Surety Services (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7009/ 08 P. O. Box 2882, Mbabane 2404-0554
10 Piety Corporation (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7010/ 08 P. O. Box 3640, Mbabane 2404-4280
11 Dups Insurance Agencies (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7011/ 08 P. O. Box 114, Manzini 2505-2028
12 AON Swaziland (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7012/ 08 P. O. Box 222, Mbabane 2404-3226
13 Finsure Insurance Brokers IB/ 7013/ 08 P. O. Box 284, Manzini 2505-4142
14 Glenrand MIB Swaziland (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7014/ 08 P. O. Box 4507, Manzini 2505-7850
15 MIDBEV	Investment	(Pty)	Ltd IB/ 7016/ 08 P. O. Box 2361, Mbabane 2404-5247
16 Healthcare Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7017/ 08 P. O. Box A868, Swazi Plaza 2404-8552
17 Tibiyo Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7018/ 08 P. O. Box 1072, Mbabane 2404-8001/2010
18 Swaziland Employee Benefit Consultants (Pty) 

Ltd
IB/ 7019/ 08 P. O. Box 3159, Mbabane 2404-3541/8001

19 Nico Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7020/ 08 P. O. Box 330, Manzini 2505-7144
20 Vista	Insurance	Brokers	(Pty)	Ltd IB/ 7022/ 09 P. O. Box 5733, Mbabane 2404-8696
21 Finroc Consult Financial Solutions 

(Pty) Ltd
IB/ 7023/ 09 P. O. Box 1429, Manzini 2404-8850/2

22 B3 Group Swaziland (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7024/ 09 P. O. Box 1242, Mbabane 2404-4681
23 Coverite Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7025/ 09 P. O. Box 416, Manzini 2404-9124
24 Namaga Consltancy (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7026/ 09 P. O. Box 2038, Matsapha 2505-2456
25 Sefika Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7028/ 09 P. O. Box 524, Mbabane 2404-5711
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Annexure 2: Entities Regulated Under The Insurance Act, 2005
              - continued 

INSURANCE BROKERS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
26 Sakhile Re-Insurance Brokers Limited IB/ 7029/ 10 P.O. Box 3983, Mbabane 2505-8825
27 Intermediary Insurance Brokers  

(Pty) Ltd
IB/ 7031/ 10 P. O. Box 6932, Manzini

28 Maxi Group Alliance (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7032/ 11 P. O. Box 47, Matsapha 2404-7896
29 Optimal Investment Solutions (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7033/ 11 P.O. Box 5144, Mbabane 2404-9559
30 Sekusile Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7034/ 11 P. O. Box C481, Hub Manzini 2504-1747/8
31 Mjaji Administrators (Pty) Ltd IB/ 7035/ 11 P. O. Box 843, Manzini 2504-0449

CORPORATE AGENTS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
1 Swaziland Building Society CAG 01/ 2008/ CI 01 P. O. Box 300, Mbabane 2404-2107
2 Swaziland Development and Savings 

Bank 
CAG 02/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 336, Mbabane 2409-5000

3 Consolidated Insurance Brokers (Pty) 
Ltd

CAG 03/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box A598, Swazi Plaza 2404-4086

4 Nhlangano Funeral Parlour CAG 04/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 45, Nhlangano 2207-9490
5 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited CAG 05/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 68, Mbabane 2408-1000
6 Bhuta’s Estate Agents (Pty) Ltd CAG 06/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 5865, M 2404-9171
7 First National Bank (Swaziland) CAG 07/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 261, Eveni 2404-5401
8 Standard Bank Swaziland Limited CAG 08/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box A294, Swazi Plaza 2404-1540
9 Taurus Investments (Pty) Ltd CAG 09/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 946, Hlathikulu 2217-6175
10 Marlett Investments (Pty) Ltd CAG 10/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 125, Mhlosheni 2207-8580
11 Santa Lucia Funeral Services (Pty) Ltd CAG 11/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 10, Motjane 2422-0204
12 Crucifix Funeral Directors and Coffin 

Manufacturers
CAG 12/ 2009/ CI 01 P. O. Box 4881, Mbabane 2422-1071

13 Swaziland Association of Savings and 
Credit Cooperatives

CAG 13/2010/ CI 01 P. O. Box A175, Swazi Plaza 2404-0278

14 Maq Alf (Pty) Ltd CAG 14/2010/CI 01 P. O. Box 4975, Manzini 2505-2456
15 Mbabane Burial Benefit Society CAG 15/2010/ CI 01 P. O. Box 477, Mbabane 2404-2888
16 Cutting Edge Management Consultants 

(Pty) Ltd
CAG 17/2011/CI 01 P. O. Box 926, Ezulwini 2404-9369

17 NDZ Financial Services (Pty) Ltd CAG 01/ 2011/ IB 7011 P. O. Box 5419, Mbabane 2404-1429
18 JD Group (Swaziland) (Pty) Ltd CAG 18/ 2011/CI 01 P. O. Box 24, Mbabane 2404-2953
19 Buzzby Services (Pty) Ltd CAG 19/ 2011 / CI 01 P. O. Box 2104, Mbabane 2404-6275
20 Select Management Services CAG 01/ 2011/ ST 03 P. O. Box 2924, Manzini 2505-8506
21 Swaziland Board of Executors & Trust 

Company (Pty) Ltd
CAG 20/ 2011/ CI 01 P. O. Box 226, Mbabane 2405-0822
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LOCAL RETIREMENT FUNDS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
1 Public Service Pensions Fund RF/ 1003/ 07 P. O. Box 4469, Mbabane 2404-8740
2 Simunye Sugar Estate Provident Fund RF/ 1004/ 07 P. O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4000
3 Swazi Observer Provident Fund RF/ 1005/ 08 P.O. Box A385, Swazi Plaza 2404-9600
4 Swaziland National Provident Fund RF/ 1006/ 08 P.O. Box 1857, Manzini 2508-2000
5 Swaziland Railway Provident Fund RF/ 1007/ 08 P.O. Box 475, Mbabane 2404-2486
6 Namboard Pension Fund RF/ 1008/ 08 P.O. Box 4261, Mbabane 2505-2646
7 Exams Council Pension Fund RF/ 1009/ 08 P.O. Box 1394, Mbabane 2416-2865/9
8 Manzini Municipality Staff Pension RF/ 1010/ 08 P.O. Box 418, Manzini 2505-2481/2/3
9 Swaziland Television Authority Pension Fund RF/ 1011/ 08 P.O. Box A146, Swazi Plaza 2404-3036
10 NedBank (Swaziland) Limited Pension Fund RF/ 1012/ 08 P. O. Box 68, Mbabane 2408-1000
11 Swaziland National Provident Fund Staff Pension 

Scheme
RF/ 1013/ 08 P.O. Box 1857, Manzini 2508-2000

12 M.V.A	Staff	Pension	Fund RF/ 1014/08 P.O. Box 4239, Mbabane 2404-5569
13 PSPF Staff Pension Scheme RF/ 1016/08 P.O. Box 4469, Mbabane 2404-8740
14 Uniswa Pension Fund RF/ 1017/08 Private Bag 4, Kwaluseni 2518-4011
15 SWAKI Pension Fund RF/ 1018/08 P.O. Box 1839, Manzini 2505-2693
16 Swaziland Building Society Pension Fund RF/ 1019/08 P.O. Box 300, Mbabane 2404-2107
17 Central Bank Of Swaziland Pension Fund RF/ 1020/08 P.O. Box 546, Mbabane 2408-2000
18 Swaziland Water Services Corporation Pension Fund RF/ 1021/09 P.O. Box 20, Mbabane 2416-9000
19 Swaziland United Bakeries Pension Fund RF/ 1022/09 P.O. Box 131, Manzini 2518-4044
20 Swaziland Royal Insurance Corporation Staff 

Pension Fund
RF/ 1023/09 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231

21 Silulu Provident Fund RF/ 1024/09 P.O. Box 679, Matsapha 2518-6030
22 Members of Parliament and Designated Office 

Bearers Pension Fund
RF/ 1025/ 09 P.O. Box 4639, Manzini 2505-8357

23 Mananga Provident Fund RF/ 1026/ 09 P.O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4801
24 Swaziland Post & Telecommunications Corporation 

Pension
RF/ 1027/ 09 P.O. Box 125, Mbabane 2405-2000

25 Tisuka TakaNgwane Provident Fund RF/ 1028/ 09 P.O. Box 1385, Mbabane 2518-4516
26 Royal Swaziland Sugar Coporation Retirement Fund RF/ 1029/ 09 P.O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4801
27 Conco Limited (SD Branch) Provident Fund RF/ 1030/ 09 P.O. Box 2040, Manzini 2517-1000
28 Ubombo-Ingcamu Provident Fund RF/ 1031/ 09 P.O. Box 23, Big Bend 2363-8000
29 Sibaya Umbrella Provident Fund RF/ 1032/ 09 P.O. Box 3159, Mbabane 2404-8001
30 City Council of Mbabane Employee Pension Fund RF/ 1033/ 09 P.O. Box 1, Mbabane 2409-7000
31 Peak Timbers Provident Fund RF/ 1034/ 09 Private Bag, Piggs Peak 2437-1188
32 Standard Bank Swaziland Pension Fund RF/ 1035/ 09 P.O. Box A294, Swazi Plaza 2404-1540
33 World	Vision	Pension	Fund RF/ 1036/ 09 P.O. Box 2870, Mbabane 2404-1102
34 Usutu Pension Fund RF/ 1037/ 09 Private Bag, Mbabane 2452-5000
35 Sibaya Umbrella Pension Fund RF/ 1038/ 09 P.O. Box 3159, Mbabane 2404-8001
36 Swaziland Electricity Company Pension Fund RF/ 1039/ 09 P.O. Box 258, Mbabane 2409-4000

37 First National Bank of Swaziland Pension Fund RF/ 1040/ 09 P.O. Box 261, Eveni 2404-5401
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Annexure 2: Regulated Under The Retirement Funds Act, 2005 - continued

LOCAL RETIREMENT FUNDS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
38 Lukhotse Umbrella Provident Fund RF/ 1041/ 09 P.O. Box 1634, Mbabane 2404-3021

39 Swazi Bank Pension Fund RF/1042/09 P.O. Box 336, Mbabane 2409-5000

40 Mbabane Motors Provident Fund RF/ 1043/09 P.O. Box 12, Mbabane 2404-3501

41 City Council of Mbabane Pension and Group Life 
Assurance Scheme

RF/ 1044/09 P.O. Box 1, Mbabane 2409-7000

42 Rainmaker Plus Provident Umbrella Fund Swaziland RF/ 1045/09 P.O. Box 45, Eveni 2409-0285

43 Inyatsi Provident Fund RF/ 1046/09 P.O. Box 147, Kwaluseni 2508-1000

44 Rainmaker Plus Pension Umbrella Fund Swaziland RF/ 1047/ 09 P.O. Box 45, Eveni 2409-0285

45 Webster Print Provident Fund RF/ 1048/ 10 P.O. Box 369, Eveni 2404-0048

46 Institute of Development Management Pension 
Fund Swd

RF/1049/10 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2518-5743

47 Swazi Candles Provident Fund RF/1050/10 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2528-3219

48 Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds Staff 
Provident Fund

RF/1051/10 P.O. Box 3365, Mbabane 2406-8000

49 Ubombo Sugar Pension Fund RF/1052/10 P.O. Box 23, Big Bend 2363-8000

50 Sivuno Provident Fund RF/1053/10 P.O. Box 100, Matsapha 2518-6033

51 AON Umbrella Retirement Fund RF/1055/10 P.O. Box 222, Mbabane 2404-3226

52 RSSC Provident Fund RF/1001/07 P.O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4801

53 Swaziland Nazarene Health Institutions Staff 
Pension Fund

RF/1056/10 P.O. Box 14 Manzini 2505-2211

54 Sifundzani School Provident Fund RF/ 1057/10 A286 Swazi Plaza 2404-2465

55 Swaziland Meat Industries Provident Fund RF/ 1058/10 P.O. Box 446, Manzini 2518-4033

56 Lilunga Umbrella Pension Fund RF/ 1059/11 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231

57 SRIC Umbrella Provident Fund RF/ 1060/ 11 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231

58 Baphalali Swaziland Red Cross Society Pension 
Fund

RF/ 1061/ 11 P.O. Box 377, Mbabane 2404-2532

59 Unitrans Swaziland Provident Fund RF/ 1062/ 11 P.O. Box 360 Manzini 2518-6122

60 Mananga Sugar Packers Provident Fund RF/ 1002/ 07 P.O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4801

61 Lukhotse Umbrella Pension Fund RF/ 1063/ 11 P.O. Box 1634, Mbabane 2404-5929

62 Lutheran Development Service Pension Fund RF/ 1064/ 11 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231

63 Mountain Inn Provident Fund RF/ 1065/ 11 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231

64 Swaziland Sugar Association Staff Provident Fund RF/ 1066/ 11 P.O. Box 1, Simunye 2313-4801

65 Swaziland Civil Aviation Authority Provident Fund RF/ 1067/ 11 P.O. Box D361, The Gables, 
Ezulwini

2404-6617

66 Ludziwo Umbrella Provident Fund RF/ 1068/ 11 P.O. Box 3640, Mbabane 2404-4280

67 Mister Bread Pension Fund RF/1069/11 P.O. Box 917, Mbabane 2404-3231
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FOREIGN RETIREMENT FUNDS Licence No. Postal address Telephone
1 Ellerines Holdings FRT/ 1001/ 08 P.O. Box 122, Bedforview, JHB, 2008 (27)11-509-3000

2 Sun International Provident FRT/ 1002/ 08 Private Bag 700, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-768-5383

3 Distell Retirement Fund FRT/ 1003/ 08 P.O. Box 501, Stellenbosch, 7599 (+27)21-809-8125

4 PricewaterhouseCoppers Directors 
Provident Fund

FRT/ 1004/ 08 Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157 (+27)11-797-5365

5 PricewaterhouseCoppers Staff 
Provident Fund

FRT/ 1005/ 08 Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157 (+27)11-797-5365

6 Sun International Pension Fund FRT/ 1006/ 08 Private Bag 700, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-768-5383

7 Cargo Carriers Retirement Fund FRT/ 1007/ 08 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (27)11-878-8300

8 Mr Price Group Retirement Fund FRT/ 1008/ 08 P.O. Box 782, Umhlanga Rocks, 
Durban, 4320

(+27)31-310-8011

9 DHL Provident Fund FRT/ 1009/ 08 P.O. Box 72280, Parkview, 2122 9+27)11-771-2322

10 Grinekar-LTA Provident Fund FRT/ 1010/ 09 P.O. Box 1517, Kempton Park, 1620 (+27)11-578-6026

11 Grinekar-LTA Pension Fund FRT/1011/ 09 P.O. Box 1517, Kempton Park, 1620 (+27)11-578-6026

12 Crooks Brothers Pension Fund FRT/ 1012/ 09 PO Renishaw, Kwazulu Natal, 4181 (+27)11-509-3178

13 MedScheme Holdings Pension Fund FRT/ 1013/ 09 P.O. Box 652071, Benmore, 2010 (+27)11-510-2914

14 KPMG Provident Fund FRT/ 1015/ 09 Private Bag 9, Parkview, 2122 (+27)11-647-7111

15 Metro Group Retirement Fund FRT/ 1016/ 09 P.O. Box 652071, Benmore, 2010 (+27)11-296-1400

16 Old Mutual Super Fund Pension 
Fund

FRT/ 1017/ 10 P.O. Box 167, Cape Town, 8000 (+27)21-509-6594

17 Nampak Group Pension Fund FRT/1018/10 P.O. Box 784324, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-719-6321

18 Engen Retirement Fund FRT/1019/10 P.O. Box 35, Cape Town, 8000 (+27)21-403-4593

19 The Provident Fund FRT/1020/10 P.O. Box 786055, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-1664

20 Afrox Provident Fund FRT/ 1021/10 P.O. Box 5404, Johannesburg, 2000 (+27)11-490-0688

21 The Preservation Pension Fund FRT/ 1022/ 10 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

22 FSN Southern Africa Pension Fund FRT/ 1023/ 10 P.O. Box 652071, Benmore, 2010 (+27)12-431-4000

23 The Preservation Provident Fund FRT/ 1024/ 10 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

24 Retail Retirement Fund FRT/ 1025/ 10 P.O. Box 501, Stellenbosch, 7599 (+27)21-980-4303

25 Old Mutual Super Funds Provident 
Fund

FRT/ 1026/ 10 P.O. Box 167, Cape Town, 8000 (+27)21-509-6594

26 Investment Solutions Retirement 
Annuity

FRT/ 1027/ 11 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

27 Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund 
(Pension Section)

FRT/ 1028/ 11 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807
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27 Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund 

(Pension Section)
FRT/ 1028/ 11 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

28 Investment Solutions Executive 
Umbrella Provident Fund

FRT/ 1029/ 11 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

29 Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund 
(Provident Section)

FRT/ 1030/ 11 P.O. Box 787240, Sandton, 2146 (+27)11-269-0807

30 Chevron Provident Fund FRT/ 1031/ 11 P.O. Box 714, Cape Town, 8000 (+27)21-403-7713

31 Boxer Superstores (Pty) Ltd 
Provident Fund

FRT/ 1032/ 11 P.O. Box 370. Westville, 3630 (27)31-275-7000

32 Engen Pension Fund FRT/ 1033/ 11 P.O. Box 35, Cape Town, 8000 (+27)21-403-4593

FUND ADMINISTRATORS

1 Akani Swaziland Retirement Fund 
Administrators

RFM/ 2001/ 08 P.O. Box 1634, Mbabane 2404-3021

2 Swaziland Royal Insurance 
Corporation

CI/ 01/ 2007 P.O. Box 971, Mbabane 2404-3231

3 AON Swaziland IB/ 7012/ 08 P.O. Box 222, Mbabane 2404-3226

4 Swaziland Employee Benefit 
Consultants

IB/ 7019/ 08 P.O. Box 3159, Mbabane 2404-3541/8001

5 Negotiated Benefit Consultants 
Swaziland 

RFA/ 1001/ 09 P.O. Box 3640, Mbabane 2404-4280

INVESTMENT MANAGERS

1 African Alliance RFM/ 2002/ 08 P.O. Box 5727, Mbabane 2404-8394

2 RMB Asset Management RFM/ 2003/ 09 P.O. Box 142, Eveni 2404-1369

3 Old Mutual Investment Group 
(Swaziland)

RFM/ 2005/ 09 P. O. Box 95, Mbabane 2404-5447

4 Allan Gray Swaziland (Pty) Ltd RFM/ 2006/ 09 P.O. Box 331, Mbabane (+27)21-415-4922

5 Stanlib (Swaziland) Unit Trust 
Mgt Co. (Pty) Ltd

RFM/ 2007/09 P. O. Box A1294, Swazi Plaza 2404-3444

6 Imbewu Yesive Investments (Pty) 
Limited

RFM/ 2008/09 P.O. Box 1638, Mbabane 2404-4519

7 CFM (Swaziland) (Pty) Ltd RFM/ 2009/09 P.O. Box 44684, Claremont, 7735 (+27)21-680-2000

8 Interneuron Swaziland (Pty) Ltd RFM/ 2010/10 P.O. Box 239 Mbabane 2404-1662

9 Sanlam Investment Management 
Swaziland Limited

RFM/ 2011/11 P.O. Box A972, Swazi Plaza 2404-1338
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